Aus dem Deutschen Herzzentrum Berlin Klinik für Herz-, Thorax- und Gefäßchirurgie

DISSERTATION

Multislice Computed Tomography for Assessment of Reverse Remodeling of Mitral Valve and Left Ventricle after Surgical Repair of Acquired Posterior Left Ventricular Aneurysms Compared to Anterior Localization

> zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr.med.)

Vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Natalia Solowjowa aus Saporischja, Ukraine

Datum der Promotion: 08.12.2017

Meiner liebenswerten und mutigen Mutter Lydia Goldblat

The current manuscript contains concepts, references overview, methods descriptions and partial results of our studies that were recently published as an original article (1) and case reports (2, 3).

Contents

Abbreviations	6
Figures	8
Tables	9
Zusammenfassung	11
Summary	13
1. INTRODUCTION	15
1.1. Pathophysiology	15
1.2. Concomitant ischemic MR	16
1.3. Imaging techniques	17
1.4. Aim of this study	19
2. METHODS	19
2.1. Study design	19
2.2. Study population	19
2.3. Operative procedures	20
2.4. MSCT measurements	21
2.5. Data acquisition	21
2.6. Data analysis	21
2.7. Statistical analysis	25
3. RESULTS	25
3.1. Clinical characteristics and outcomes	25
3.1.1. Group 1	25
3.1.2. Group 2	25
3.2. Procedural outcome	27
3.2.1. Group 1	27
3.2.2. Group 2	28
3.3. Changes in LV geometry and function	28
3.3.1. Group 1	
3.3.2. Group 2	29
3.4. LV aneurysm characteristics before ventricular restoration	32
3.4.1. Group 1	32
3.4.2. Group 2	33

3.5. Mitral geometry and function	34
3.5.1. Group 1	34
3.5.2. Group 2	38
3.6. Linear vs. patch repair	40
3.6.1. Group 1	40
3.6.2. Group 2	42
4. DISCUSSION	42
4.1. Diagnostic testing	42
4.2. Surgical approaches and results	43
4.3. Surgical outcome	47
4.4. Limitations	48
5. CONCLUSIONS	48
6. References	49
7. Curriculum Vitae	57
8. List of Publications	59
9. Affidavit	67
10. Acknowledgements	69

Abbreviations

ADA	aneurysm's defect area
AEDV	aneurysm's end-diastolic volume
AEDVI	aneurysm's end-diastolic volume index
AESV	aneurysm's end-systolic volume
AnAPMA	angle between mitral valve annulus and anterior papillary muscle head
AnPPMA	angle between mitral valve annulus and posterior papillary muscle head
AnAPMD	distance between mitral valve annulus and anterior papillary muscle head
AnPPMD	distance between mitral valve annulus and posterior papillary muscle head
APD	anteroposterior diameter/anteroposteriorer Diameter
BSA	body surface area
CABG	coronary artery bypass grafting
CBP	cardiopulmonary bypass
CD	coaptation distance
CMR	cardiac magnetic resonance
СТ	computed tomography
ECG	electrocardiogram
ESVI	end-systolic volume index
ICD	intercommissural diameter
IKD	interkommissuraler Diameter
IMA	Interpapillarmuskelabstand
IMD	interpapillary muscle distance
KD	Kooaptationsdistanz

KF	Koaptationsfläche
LA	left atrium
LAVI	left atrial volume index
LV	left ventricle
LVEDD	left ventricular end-diastolic diameter
LVEDV	left ventricular end-diastolic volume
LVEDVI	left ventricular end-diastolic volume index
LVESV	left ventricular end-systolic volume
LVESVI	left ventricular end-systolic volume index
LVSI	left ventricular sphericity index
MI	myocardial infarction
МК	Mitralklappe
MKAF	Mitralklappenannulus-Fläche
MKSW	Mitralklappenschluss-Winkel
MR	mitral regurgitation
MSCT	multislice computed tomography/Multischicht-Computertomographie
MV	mitral valve
MVAA	mitral valve annulus area
MVCA	mitral valve closure angle
NYHA	New York Heart Association
SVI	stroke volume index
SVR	surgical ventricular repair
ТА	tenting area

Figures

Figure 1*:	Assessment of left ventricular and aneurysmatic volume	22
Figure 2*:	Calculation of the left ventricular volumetric sphericity index	22
Figure 3*:	Geometric indices of mitral valve and subvalvular apparatus	24
Figure 4:	Group 1 + Group 2: Kaplan-Meier survival curve for the overall population	26
Figure 5:	Mean LVESVI before and after ventricle restoration	30
Figure 6:	LVEF before and after ventricle restoration	31
Figure 7:	Mean LV Sphericity Index before and after ventricle restoration	31
Figure 8:	Group 1: Motion abnormalities of papillary muscles and load bearing LV wall: SVR vs. SVR+MV repair/replacement	35
Figure 9:	Group 2: Motion abnormalities of papillary muscles and load bearing LV wall: SVR vs. SVR+MV repair/replacement	40
Figure 10*:	Algorithm for MSCT-guided treatment of posterior submitral LV aneurysm	45
Figure 11*:	MSCT-guided surgical repair of submitral LV aneurysm according to the algorithm proposed	46

* Figures 1, 2, 3, 10 and 11 were already published in:

Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Novikov A, Pasic M, Weng Y, Falk V, Knosalla C. Multislice computed tomography-guided surgical repair of acquired posterior left ventricular aneurysms: demonstration of mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodelling.

Interact CardioVasc Thorac Surg 2016;23:383-90.

Tables

Table 1:	Baseline patient characteristics	27
Table 2:	Operative and postoperative data	28
Table 3a:	Group 1: LV dimensions measured in CT scans before and after ventricle restoration in 24 cases	29
Table 3b:	Group 2: LV dimensions measured in CT scans before and after ventricle restoration in 41 cases	30
Table 4a:	Group 1: LV aneurysm characteristics evaluated in CT scans before ventricle restoration in 24 cases	32
Table 4b:	Group 1: LV aneurysm dimensions evaluated in CT scans before ventricle restoration in 24 cases	33
Table 4c:	Group 2: LV aneurysm characteristics evaluated in CT scans before ventricle restoration in 41 cases	33
Table 5a:	Group 1: CT measurements of MV and submitral apparatus dimensions before and after LV restoration in 18 patients without mitral surgery	34
Table 5b:	Group 2: CT measurements of MV and submitral apparatus dimensions before and after LV restoration in 35 patients without mitral surgery	39
Table 6a-1:	Group 1: Clinical variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement	35
Table 6a-2:	Group 2: Clinical variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement	35
Table 6b-1:	Group 1: CT-morphological variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement	35
Table 6b-2:	Group 2: CT-morphological variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement	37

Table 6c-1:	Group 1: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm localization and submitral apparatus among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement
Table 6c-2:	Group 2: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm localization and submitral apparatus among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement
Table 7a:	Group 1: Clinical variables among patients with linear and patch repair40
Table 7b:	Group 1: Preoperative CT-morphological variables among patients with linear and patch repair41
Table 7c:	Group 1: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm and submitral apparatus in 24 patients with linear and patch repair

Zusammenfassung

Einleitung: Die Beteiligung der Mitralklappe (MK) stellt eine Herausforderung in der chirurgischen Therapie von Aneurysmen des linken Ventrikels (LV) dar, insbesondere der posterioren LV-Wand. Diese Arbeit analysiert die Möglichkeiten der Multischicht-Computertomographie (MSCT) für die Beurteilung des Mitralapparates und des LV als funktionalen Komplex für die Optimierung der chirurgischen Vorgehensweise bei LV-Aneurysmen, die Unterschiede zwischen der posterioren und der anterioren Lokalisation und die mittelfristigen Ergebnisse in beiden Gruppen.

Methodik: Eine chirurgische LV-Rekonstruktion (LVR) wurde bei 30 konsekutiven Patienten (m:w = 24:6, Alter median 66.0 Jahre; mean New York-Heart-Association (NYHA)-Klasse 2.98) mit posterioren (Gruppe 1) und 41 konsekutiven Patienten (m:w = 31:10, Alter median 57.7 Jahre; mean NYHA-Klasse 3.01) mit anterioren (Gruppe 2) LV-Aneurysmen durchgeführt. Enddiastolische und endsystolische Volumina des LV wurden zu Körperoberfläche indexiert (LVEDVI/LVESVI). Der MK-Apparat wurde durch Kooaptationsdistanz, Koaptationsfläche, MK-Schlusswinkel, MK-Annulusfläche, interkommissuralen/anteroposterioren MK-Annulusdiameter und Interpapillarmuskelabstand (KD, KF, MKSW, MKAF, IKD, APD, IMA) charakterisiert.

Ergebnisse: In Gruppe 1 und 2 betrugen die 30-Tage-Mortalität 10% und 0%, die 5-Jahre-Überlebensrate - 83.1% und 82.7%. In Gruppe 1 wurde nach chirurgischer LVR eine Reduktion des LVESVI von 110.6 ± 88.8 auf 50.2 ± 22.9 ml/m² (p = 0.001), in Gruppe 2 - von 118.6 ± 49.2 auf 63.6 ± 32.1 ml/m² (p < 0.001) erzielt. Die LV-Ejektionsfraktion (LVEF) stieg von $31.5 \pm 15.1\%$ auf $43.4 \pm 9.9\%$ (p < 0.001) in der Gruppe 2 an.

Beide Gruppen demonstrierten signifikant höhere Ausgangswerte der MKAF, KD und KF bei Patienten, die eine zusätzliche MK-Rekonstruktion oder Ersatz brauchten, Gruppe 2 zeigte zusätzlich eine höhere Prävalenz von begleitenden posterioren Myokardnarben. Die postoperative Reduktion der Mitralregurgitation (MR) nach LVR ohne MK-Chirurgie korrespondierte in der Gruppe 1 mit signifikanter Reduktion der IKD, APD, MKAF, KD, KF, MKSW und IMA; in der Gruppe 2 - mit leichter Reduktion der MVAA und signifikanter Reduktion der KD, KF und IMA.

Schlussfolgerung: Eine chirurgische LVR, unterstützt durch MSCT, führt bei LV-Aneurysmen beider Lokalisationen zu exzellenten mittelfristigen Ergebnissen durch adäquate Volumenreduktion und funktionale Verbesserung. Die Patienten beider Gruppen, die eine zusätzliche MK-Chirurgie benötigten, zeigten fortgeschrittene Veränderungen der MK-Geometrie, assoziiert mit Dysfunktion der posterioren LV-Wand und des posterioren Papillarmuskels. Die postoperative Reduktion der moderaten begleitenden MR bei Patienten beider Gruppen ohne zusätzliche MK-Chirurgie korrespondierte mit einer Verbesserung der MK-Geometrie. Auf Basis der MSCT-Analyse schlagen wir einen Algorithmus für die chirurgische Planung bei posterioren LV-Aneurysmen vor.

Summary

Objectives: Involvement of the mitral valve (MV) apparatus represents a challenge in surgical ventricular repair (SVR), especially of posterior left ventricular (LV) aneurysms. Here we investigate the capability of MSCT for assessment of the MV/LV complex to optimize the surgical procedure for LV aneurysms, the surgically relevant differences between posterior and anterior localization, and the mid-term results of both groups.

Methods: Thirty consecutive patients (m:w = 24:6, median age 66.0 years; mean New York Heart Association (NYHA) class 2.98) with posterior LV aneurysm (group 1) and 41 consecutive patients (m:w = 31:10, median age 57.7 years; mean NYHA class 3.01) with anterior LV aneurysm (group 2) were operated upon. End-diastolic and end-systolic volumes of LV were indexed to body surface area (LVEDVI/LVESVI). The MV apparatus was characterized by coaptation distance, tenting area, MV closure angle, MV annulus area, intercommissural/anteroposterior MV annulus diameter and interpapillary muscle distance (CD/TA/MVCA/MVAA/ICD/APD/IMD).

Results: Groups 1 and 2 showed 30-day mortality of 10% and 0% and 5-year survival of 83.1% and 82.7% respectively. Reduction of LVESVI from 110.6 \pm 88.8 to 50.2 \pm 22.9 ml/m² (p = 0.001) in group 1 and from 118.6 \pm 49.2 to 63.6 \pm 32.1 ml/m² (p < 0.001) in group 2 was achieved after surgery. LV ejection fraction (LVEF) increased from 29.5 \pm 15.1% to 43.4 \pm 9.9% (p < 0.001) in group 1 and from 29.6 \pm 9.1% to 40.9 \pm 10.3% (p < 0.001) in group 2. Both groups showed significantly higher initial values of MVAA, CD and TA in patients who needed MV repair or replacement, while group 2 showed additionally a higher prevalence of concomitant posterior scars. Postoperative reduction of mitral regurgitation (MR) after SVR without additional MV surgery corresponded in group 1 with significant reduction in ICD, APD, MVAA, TA, CD, MVCA and IMD and in group 2 with a slight reduction of MVAA and significant reduction of TA, CD and IMD.

Conclusions: MSCT-guided SVR of LV aneurysms of both localizations allows excellent mid-term results to be achieved due to adequate volume reduction and functional improvement. The patients of both groups who needed additional mitral surgery demonstrated advanced changes in MV geometry associated with lesions of the posterior LV wall and posterior papillary muscle. Postoperative reduction of moderate MR without additional MV surgery corresponded with significant improvement

of MV geometry in both groups. Based on the MSCT assessment we propose an algorithm for surgical planning in posterior LV aneurysms.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Pathophysiology

Surgical repair of posterior left ventricular (LV) aneurysms poses a technical challenge because of their localization in myocardial segments adjacent to the mitral valve (MV), and especially so in cases of involvement of the MV apparatus. In order to approach the aneurysm safely and to decide on the surgical strategy, the critical issue of reconstruction is resection of the aneurysm with preservation and restoration of the shape and function of the LV/MV complex, and – in cases of mitral apparatus involvement with severe mitral regurgitation (MR) – additional MV repair or replacement.

The underlying pathology in these cases is more frequently LV pseudoaneurysm than true aneurysm. While pseudoaneurysms are the result of acute free wall rupture – which as a complication of acute myocardial infarction (MI) has an incidence of 3.7% and causes 4% mortality (4) – and are contained by overlying adherent pericardium, true ventricular aneurysms present thinned dyskinetic areas of scarred myocardium. Whereas pseudoaneurysms require urgent surgical resection because of the danger of rupture, true aneurysms can be operated upon electively or sometimes treated conservatively.

Posterior and lateral localization is found in approximately 11% of all surgically treated true LV aneurysms, as reported by Jeganathan et al. (5) and Mickleborough et al. (6, 7). Due to the limited surgical experience in single institutions, literature on the planning of operative approaches and outcome of surgical repair of posterior LV aneurysms is sparse (3, 8-11).

Typical LV aneurysms of anterior localization occur as a consequence of acute transmural anterior MI, whereby the successful early reperfusion therapy and consistent application of β -blockers and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin II receptor blockers do not prevent LV remodeling. Savoye et al. reported a significant increase (> 20%) of end-diastolic volume after 1 year in 31% of adequately treated patients with anterior MI (12). The larger amount of infarcted segments requires a greater extent of shortening of remaining non-infarcted segments and means significantly higher mechanical stress for the residual viable LV myocardium. McKay et al. demonstrated that LV dilatation occurs when the asynergic LV circumference exceeds 40% (13). Dor et al. emphasized that the scarred LV wall in this context has to

be seen as the cause of left ventricular remodeling (14). White et al. demonstrated that end-systolic volume index (ESVI) of greater than 60 ml/m² marks a poor prognosis after MI (15). Therefore the postulated goal of the surgical treatment of anterior LV aneurysms is to diminish or exclude the scarred areas from the remaining contractile left ventricle with consequent reduction of LV wall stress, restoration of physiological LV volume and shape and improvement of LV function (14, 16). Surgical techniques of LV restoration in anterior aneurysms are aimed at exclusion of the scarred area and to configure the residual ventricle as accurately as possible so that it approaches physiological volume (14, 16-20).

1.2. Concomitant ischemic MR

Concomitant ischemic MR signifies an increased operative risk with higher perioperative morbidity and mortality in patients undergoing surgical ventricular repair (5, 21). Remodeling and distortion of the LV play a key role in the pathogenesis of ischemic MR, whereby posterolateral localization of MI and involvement of the posterior papillary muscle are associated with increased severity of ischemic MR (5, 21-23).

Emergence mechanisms of concomitant ischemic MR after anteroapical MI differ from those in posterolateral localization, because the papillary muscles, the load-bearing lateral and posterolateral wall and the myocardium between them as a rule are not affected, even in extremely large aneurysms (14). In the opinion of some authors ischemic MR in anteroapical aneurysms is more connected with secondary annular dilatation (14, 21). MV annular dilatation combined with loss of normal annular saddle shape was shown to play an important role for severity of MR after anterior MI (24, 25).

Yosefy et al. described inferoapical scar extension with consequent displacement of the papillary muscles as a further specific mechanism of MR after anteroapical MI (26). Deja et al. also demonstrated that those patients with advanced LV remodeling who show inferior extension of anterior MI and subsequent leaning of the posterior papillary muscle develop significant MR (24). Watanabe et al. demonstrated wider tethering of MV leaflets toward the LV in anterior MI compared with inferior MI, which shows localized tenting of the leaflet (27).

A stepwise algorithm was recently proposed by Jeganathan et al. for the planning of combined MV and ventricular reconstructive surgery in anterior LV aneurysms (5).

Also, the mechanisms of recurrent ischemic MR after MV repair are closely linked with different types and factors of LV remodeling (28-30). In the attempt to decipher the characteristics of patients who developed recurrent MR, in the subanalysis of the recently published prospective trial from the Cardiothoracic Surgical Trials Network (31), Kron et al. identified the presence of basal inferior aneurysm/dyskinesis as an independent predictor of recurrent ischemic MR after MV repair (28).

1.3. Imaging techniques

In the course of time, various imaging modalities such as contrast ventriculography, radionuclide ventriculography, cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) and transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography have been used as approaches to analyze the characteristics of both true aneurysms and pseudoaneurysms and to plan the operative procedure. The advantages and disadvantages of each modality have been well described (32). Recent technical advances have brought not only the further development of the traditional three-dimensional imaging modalities echocardiography and cardiac magnetic resonance tomography but also impressive progress in cardiac multislice computed tomography.

The most important imaging modality for evaluating cardiac diseases remains transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography with three-dimensional tools. It allows a comprehensive workup of the patients by assessing morphological abnormalities of the heart chambers, myocardium, valves and great vessels and grading the various diseases by integrating information from 2D or 3D echocardiography, color flow, and pulsed and continuous wave Doppler as well as quantitative Doppler flow measurements with the possibility of semiquantitative assessment of intracardial and transvalvular flows with evaluation of flow volumes and pressures. Echocardiography offers excellent time resolution, enabling very detailed analysis of the movement sequences of cardiac structures. Also, the limitations of echocardiography are commonly known: it requires exact geometric alignment of the structure of interest and depends highly on patient anatomical characteristics and the operator's skills.

CMR imaging is now established as the gold standard for evaluating cardiac diseases, allowing comprehensive detailed assessment of myocardium including systolic left and right ventricular function, viability and scar imaging using gadolinium contrast agents and diagnosis of myocardial ischemia with stress perfusion testing (33). Furthermore, CMR is distinctly superior to echocardiography in the detection of ventricular thrombus after MI (34). Valve morphology, movement and severity of valve dysfunction with blood flow quantification can also be exactly assessed with CMR (23, 35, 36). In particular, flow measurements with a phase-contrast pulse sequence show good correlation with Doppler echocardiographic findings. The main limitations of CMR continue to be its restricted availability and the lack of specific reimbursement. Arrhythmias that affect ECG gating, claustrophobia and implanted devices still represent relative contraindications for CMR.

The main established clinical application of cardiac multislice computed tomography (MSCT) is the evaluation of the coronary arteries for the diagnosis or exclusion of coronary artery stenosis (37-39). But each ECG-gated MSCT examination with its possibilities of unrestricted reconstruction of a primary three-dimensionally acquired dataset contains much more relevant imaging information beyond that on the coronary arteries alone. Recent technical advances in MSCT enable the detailed study of cardiac anatomy with free choice of view planes and ventricular functional assessment with very high accuracy (32). High spatial resolution of up to 0.4 mm and time resolution of up to 75 ms allow very detailed analysis of cardiac anatomy, including valves and their movement sequences. Modern MSCT software tools for analysis of volumes and of the cardiac chambers allow left and right ventricular functional assessment, based on exact true volume detection (32, 40).

In addition, myocardial function and segmental wall motion abnormalities can be assessed with MSCT with accuracy comparable to that of cardiac MRI (40). MSCT provides additional valuable tools such as delayed contrast enhancement for visualization of scar areas in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy similar to late gadolinium enhancement with cardiac MRI (41). The visualization of older post-infarction scars is possible with MSCT by the tissue differentiation between myocardium and fat as a result of the fatty replacement of the fibrous myocardial scar (40, 42). MSCT also provides reliable identification of LV thrombus.

Anatomical valve features, thickening or calcification and structural changes of the subvalvular apparatus and other related structures can be simply recognized.

Several studies have demonstrated that morphology of a normal and diseased aortic and mitral valve as assessed with MSCT correlates at a high rate with morphological information obtained by echocardiography (35, 36, 43). It also have been demonstrated that MSCT provides functional information regarding valvular disease severity. Planimetric measurements of maximal opening and maximal regurgitant orifice areas of the mitral and aortic valve have been shown to deliver data comparable with those derived from echocardiographic and Doppler measurements (44).

Moreover, MSCT provides a possibility to analyze the anatomical coherences of the heart, great vessels, airways and other structures of the chest.

The aforementioned advantages of MSCT, the possibilities to analyze the coherence of ventricular remodelling and subtle geometrical changes in the mitral valve apparatus, make it a useful tool for the analysis and planning of cardiac surgical and interventional approaches.

1.4. Aim of this study

This study aimed to investigate the potential of ECG-triggered MSCT for assessment of the mitral valve / left ventricle complex to optimize the surgical procedure for LV aneurysms, to find out the surgically relevant differences between posterior and anterior localization and to analyze our single-center early and mid-term results of MSCT-guided surgical reconstruction of LV aneurysms of both localizations.

2. METHODS

2.1. Study design

The diagnosis of LV true or pseudoaneurysm of posterior and anterior localization was made by echocardiography, computed tomography and angiography. The surgeons made the decision regarding the operative technique and approach, preparation of pericardium, aneurysm opening and patch size using mainly the MSCT data. Echocardiography and MSCT were repeated during the first postoperative week. The data evaluated before and after surgery were analyzed and compared retrospectively.

2.2. Study population

Data of all consecutive patients with coronary artery disease who underwent surgical ventricular repair (SVR) for LV aneurysms of posterior medial, posterior or posterior lateral localization in our hospital between February 2006 and May 2014 were retrospectively analyzed.

Additionally, data of 41 consecutive patients with coronary artery disease who underwent SVR for LV aneurysms of anterior localization in our hospital between January 2011 and May 2014 were retrospectively analyzed to compare the clinical outcome and changes in LV and MV function and geometry in both groups.

Written informed consent for surgery was obtained from all patients or their representatives. This study was approved by our Institutional Review Board with waiver of need for patient consent.

2.3. Operative procedures

All LV repairs were performed through a median sternotomy approach under cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). The definite diagnosis of a true or pseudoaneurysm was made by direct surgical inspection with assessment of aneurysm localization, the presence of pericardial adhesions, myocardial disruption and thrombotic masses. Intraoperative transesophageal echocardiography was routinely performed to assess the adequacy of LV and MV repair. LV repair and MV repair or replacement were performed after coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG).

In posterior aneurysm localization the parameters of aneurysm localization and morphology, size of the aneurysm neck (ADA) and extension of the perfused pseudoaneurysm, obtained with MSCT preoperatively, as well as LV and aneurysm volumes, measured in MSCT, allowed exact estimation of the required volume reduction of the LV, assessment of the possibility of linear repair, and precise sizing of the Dacron patch for patch repair. Mitral surgery in this group was performed in patients with aneurysm defect area (ADA) larger than 20 sqcm, CT morphological signs of MV tethering and echocardiographically proven MR grade > 2.

Antero-apical ventricular repair was routinely performed using a modified Dor or McCarthy procedure with several Fontan sutures along the aneurysm perimeter without patch application, in order to exclude the aneurysm and restore LV geometry (45). This technique enables the effective exclusion of scarred areas, achieving the required target LV volume and reconstruction of the LV apex. Only one patient from this group, in whom the additional closure of a small ventricular septal defect after a huge antero-apical myocardial infarction was performed, needed a patch repair.

All surgeons had access to the complete preoperative MSCT assessment.

2.4. MSCT measurements

The following section is a revised and expanded version of the methods descriptions that were recently published in our original article (1) and case reports (2, 3).

2.5. Data acquisition

Contrast-enhanced ECG-triggered cardiac scanning was performed using a first- or second-generation dual-source (2 x 128-slice) scanner (Somatom Definition, Somatom Definition Flash, Siemens AG, Erlangen, Germany) with the following study protocol: tube voltage 100-120 kV, tube current 320 ref. mAs/rotation, rotation time 280 ms, slice collimation of 128 x 0.6 mm, temporal resolution 75 ms (not depending on heart rate), slice width 0.75 mm, reconstruction increment 0.4 mm, reconstruction kernel B30f. A total of 80 to 100 ml nonionic contrast medium (Imeron 400, Bracco, Altana Pharma, Constance, Germany) was usually administered via the antecubital/jugular vein at 4-5 ml/s. Automated peak enhancement detection in the left atrium was usually used to time the contrast bolus with data acquisition start at threshold level of 160 Hounsfield units. Scans were performed during an inspiratory breath-hold of 8 to 10 s. The electrocardiogram was recorded simultaneously to allow retrospective gating and reconstruction of the data at desired phases of the cardiac cycle. All images were transferred to a post-processing workstation for data analysis (syngo.via, Siemens AG).

2.6. Data analysis

To study the anatomy and geometry of the LV and MV apparatus, the data set was reconstructed with a slice thickness of 0.75 mm and reconstruction increment of 0.4 mm, starting in early systole (0% of cardiac cycle) and lasting to end diastole (90% of cardiac cycle) in steps of 10%.

LV volumes and systolic function were assessed using dedicated CT evaluation software (syngo Circulation, Siemens AG) and applying a 3D threshold segmentation algorithm. End diastole and end systole were estimated automatically and adjusted by the investigator if needed. Endocardial borders are traced semi-automatically and papillary muscles were regarded as being part of the LV cavity.

LV end-diastolic volume (LVEDV) and end-systolic volume (LVESV) were obtained (Fig. 1); left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was calculated by the difference between LVESV and LVEDV divided by LVEDV.

Left atrium (LA) volume was calculated at end systole on the basis of planimetric measured LA area in two-chamber view (A1) and four-chamber view (A2) and LA-length (L) according to the simplified empiric formula (46):

The systolic and diastolic LV volumetric sphericity index (LVSI) was calculated on the basis of end-diastolic and end-systolic LV volume and LV long axis length in twochamber view according to the empiric formula (47), (Fig. 2):

LVSI = LV Volume/LV long axis $\times \pi/6$

Figure 1. Assessment of left ventricular and Figure 2. Calculation of the left ventricular aneurysmatic volume.

Panels A+B: MSCT reconstruction of four-chamber view and two-chamber view for semi-automatic measurement of LV volume including aneurysm in diastole (pink area). Panels C+D: short-axis view and two-chamber view for measurement of separate aneurysm volume in diastole (pink area). LA = left atrium, LV = left ventricle, An = aneurysm, Ao = aorta.

Local wall motion abnormalities were estimated semiguantitatively using a usual 17segment model with separate assessment of papillary muscles and the corresponding load bearing LV wall. All parameters obtained were indexed to body surface area (BSA).



volumetric sphericity index (LVSI).

Morphological characteristics of the aneurysm in terms of myocardial disruption, aneurysm defect area, apposition of thrombotic masses and pericardial effusion were evaluated.

Additionally, the aneurysm's end-systolic and end-diastolic volumes (AEDV and AESV) and end-diastolic aneurysm defect area (ADA) were estimated using the same software tool with manually defined 2D aneurysm borders to the remaining part of the left ventricle (Fig. 1).

MV geometry was studied in the reconstructed mid-systolic phase, when the valve was closed. Using the two- und four-chamber view and the reconstructed LV short-axis view, a plane coaxial to the MV was reconstructed. At the level of the MV annulus, the annulus area was quantified by planimetry; anteroposterior and intercommissural diameters (APD, ICD) were measured on the level of MV segments A2/P2 and in the short axis, respectively (Fig. 3).

The corresponding three-chamber view representing the anteroposterior plane through the MV segments A2/P2 was used for the measurements of coaptation distance (CD) as the distance between the leaflet coaptation point and mitral annulus plane, tenting area (TA) as the area between the two mitral leaflets below the mitral annulus plane, and mitral valve closure angle (MVCA) as the angle between the leaflets at the coaptation point (Fig. 3).

Measurements of the submitral apparatus, including interpapillary muscle distance (IMD) and distances and angles between the MV annulus and anterior and posterior papillary muscle head (AnAPMD, AnPMD, AnAPMA, AnPPMA), were also performed in the reconstructed mid-systolic phase using the same planes. CT morphological characteristics of other elements of the submitral apparatus – chordae, papillary muscle – and load-bearing LV wall dysfunction were analyzed semi-qualitatively.

This minimum of measurements provides detailed analysis of LV and MV anatomy and geometry and the coherence of the mitral valve leaflets, annulus, subvalvular apparatus including papillary muscles and chords, left ventricle and left atrium. The severity of corresponding mitral regurgitation was estimated by echocardiography.



Figure Geometric indices of apparatus. 3. mitral valve and subvalvular Panels A+B: MSCT reconstruction of short-axis view at the level of the mitral annulus - mitral valve annulus area (MVAA), intercommissural (ICD) and anteroposterior diameter (APD). Panels C-E: threechamber view as anteroposterior plane through the mitral valve segments A2/P2. Panel C: coaptation distance (CD) as the distance between the leaflet coaptation point and mitral annulus plane (A). Panel D: tenting area (TA) as the area between the two mitral leaflets under the mitral annulus plane. Panel E: mitral valve closure angle (MVCA) as the angle between the two leaflets at coaptation point (C). Panel F: two-chamber view - interpapillary muscle distance (IMD) as the distance between heads of the papillary muscles. MVAA = mitral valve annulus area, ICD = intercommissural diameter, APD = anteroposterior diameter, CD = coaptation distance, TA = tenting area, CA = closure angle, IMD = interpapillary muscle distance, LV = left ventricle, RV = right ventricle, LA = left atrium, Ao = aorta.

2.7. Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are presented as mean \pm SD. Categorical variables are presented as numbers with percentages. Means were compared with the paired, two-tailed Student t-test. Actuarial survival curves were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The data were analyzed with SPSS 20 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Clinical characteristics and outcomes

3.1.1. Group 1

Thirty patients with aneurysms of the posterior medial, posterior and posterior lateral LV wall due to myocardial infarction underwent surgical ventricular repair. The median age of the patients was 66 years (range 38-78 years). There were six (20%) female and 24 (80%) male patients. The mean preoperative New York Heart Association class (NYHA) was 2.98 ± 0.16 . The mean preoperative LVEF, estimated with echocardiography, was $34.7 \pm 10.2\%$. Seven patients had concomitant MR of grade ≥ 2 . There were 17 patients with heart failure of NYHA class III and 8 patients in NYHA class IV. Preoperative patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. Overall 30-day mortality was 10% (3/30). One- and 5-year actuarial survival rates estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method were 86.5% and 83.1%, respectively (Fig. 4).

3.1.2. Group 2

Forty-one patients (group 2) with LV aneurysm of anterior localization due to myocardial infarction also underwent SVR. The median age of the patients was 57.7 years (range 33-75 years). There were ten (24.4%) female and 31 (75.6%) male patients. The mean preoperative NYHA class was 3.01 ± 0.11 . The mean preoperative LVEF, estimated with echocardiography, was $29.2 \pm 7.6\%$. Six of the patients of group 2 had concomitant MR of grade ≥ 2 . There were 35 patients with heart failure of NYHA class III and 3 patients in NYHA class IV. Preoperative patient characteristics are also presented in Table 1. Overall 30-day mortality was 0% (0/41). One- and 5-year actuarial survival rates estimated by the Kaplan-Meier method were 95.1% and 82.7%, respectively (Fig. 4).



Group 1 vs. Group 2, p = 0.824					
Months	12	24	36	48	60
Group 1	86.5	83.1	83.1	83.1	83.1
Group 2	95.1	90.2	90.2	87	82.7

Figure 4. Group 1 + Group 2: Kaplan-Meier survival curve for the overall population.

Table 1. Baseline patient characteristics

	Group 1 (n = 30)	Group 2 (n = 41)	<i>P</i> -value
Median age (range), years	66.0 (38.0-78.0)	57.7 (33.0-75.0)	0.126
Female gender, n (%)	6 (20.0)	10 (24.4)	0.662
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	11 (36.7)	10 (24.4)	0.376
Hypertension, n (%)	29 (96.7)	24 (58.5)	<0.001
Hypercholesterolemia, n (%)	26 (86.7)	27 (65.8)	0.046
Peripheral vascular disease, n (%)	1 (3.3)	4 (9.7)	0.296
History of renal failure, n (%)	4(13.3)	6 (14.6)	0.876
History of atrial fibrillation, n (%)	7 (23.3)	4 (9.7)	0.118
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)	2 (6.0)	2 (4.9)	0.747
NYHA I–II, n (%)	5 (16.7)	3 (7.3)	0.220
NYHA III, n (%)	17 (56.7)	35 (85.4)	0.032
NYHA IV, n (%)	8 (26.7)	3 (7.3)	0.100
LVEF > 40%, n (%)	7 (23.3)	5 (12.2)	0.021
LVEF 20-40%, n (%)	20 (66.7)	30 (73.2)	0.063
LVEF < 20%, n (%)	3 (10.0)	6 (14.6)	0.916
Coronary lesions:			
Single vessel, n (%) Double vessel, n (%) Triple vessel, n (%)	4 (13.3) 11 (36.7) 15 (50.0)	10 (24.4) 8 (19.5) 23 (56.1)	0.667 0.107 0.611
Mitral regurgitation ≥ 2+, n (%)	7 (23.3)	6 (14.6)	0.349

3.2. Procedural outcome

3.2.1. Group 1

For posterior ventricular reconstruction in the population of 30 patients patch ventriculoplasty was performed in 15 patients (50%) and linear repair in 15 (50%). Sixteen patients (53%) had associated myocardial revascularization. Six patients (20%) underwent concomitant MV surgery. MV repair was performed in three (10%) and MV replacement also in three (10%) patients. One patient needed reoperation due to secondary covered left ventricular perforation after 9 months. Three patients (10%) died in hospital due to septic shock (n = 2) or multiorgan failure (n = 1). All of them had combined surgery (1 = SVR + CABG, 2 = SVR, CABG + MV replacement). Operative and postoperative data are summarized in Table 2.

3.2.2. Group 2

For anterior ventricular reconstruction in the population of 41 patients patch ventriculoplasty was performed in 1 patient (2.4%) and linear repair (modified Dor procedure) in 40 (97.6%). Thirty-two patients (78%) had associated myocardial revascularization. Six patients of group 2 (14.6%) underwent concomitant MV surgery. Also in group 2 one patient needed reoperation due to secondary covered left ventricular perforation after 9 months. Hospital mortality in group 2 was 0%. Operative and postoperative data are also summarized in Table 2.

	Group 1 (n = 30)	Group 2 (n = 41)	P-value
Concomitant CABG, n (%)	16 (53.3)	32 (78.0)	0.028
No. of grafts performed, median (range)	1.0 (0-4)	3.0 (0-4)	0.003
Concomitant MV surgery, n (%)	6 (20.0)	6 (14.6)	0.551
Patch repair, n (%)	15 (50.0)	1 (2.4)	<0.001
Non-patch repair, n (%)	15 (50.0)	40 (97.6)	<0.001
CBP time, median (range), minutes	165.5 (57-505)	138.0 (46-266)	0.180
Cross-clamp time, median (range), minutes	84.8 (30-255)	144.0 (18-162)	0.937
Elective surgery, n (%)	13 (43.3)	41 (100.0)	<0.001
Myocardial infarction, n (%)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Stroke, n (%)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.4)	0.389
Sepsis, n (%)	7 (23.3)	0 (0.0)	0.001
Renal failure, n (%)	6 (20.0)	2 (4.9)	0.047
Hospital mortality, n (%)	3 (10.0)	0 (0.0)	0.039

Table 2. Operative and postoperative data.

3.3. Changes in LV geometry and function

3.3.1. Group 1

Postoperative echocardiographically measured LVEF had increased from $34.7 \pm 10.2\%$ to $40.2 \pm 9.2\%$ (p = 0.091) and mean LVEDD had decreased from 57.5 ± 6.9 mm to 52.7 ± 6.7 mm (p = 0.028).

LV volumetric parameters measured in MSCT in 24 patients were also significantly decreased. LVEDVI decreased from $151.2 \pm 84.1 \text{ ml/m}^2$ to $85.7 \pm 28.3 \text{ ml/m}^2$ (p = 0.001) and LVESVI from $110.6 \pm 88.8 \text{ ml/m}^2$ to $50.2 \pm 22.9 \text{ ml/m}^2$ (p < 0.001). There was a statistically significant increase in LVEF from $31.5 \pm 15.1\%$ to $43.4 \pm 9.9\%$

(p = 0.001) after posterior SVR. The diastolic LVSI was significantly decreased from 0.60 ± 0.13 to 0.53 ± 0.07 (p = 0.007), showing reverse remodeling of the LV toward a more normal shape (for full comparison of LV parameters see Table 3a and Fig. 5,6,7).

3.3.2. Group 2

Postoperative echocardiographically measured LVEF had increased from 29.2 \pm 7.6 to 35.2 \pm 7.7% (p < 0.001) and mean LVEDD had decreased from 61.1 \pm 8.6 to 58.6 \pm 8.4 mm (p < 0.001).

LV volumetric parameters measured in MSCT in all patients were also significantly decreased. LVEDVI decreased from 164.4 ± 50.8 to 103.4 ± 34.5 ml/m² (p < 0.001) and LVESVI from 118.6 ± 49.2 to 63.6 ± 32.1 ml/m² (p < 0.001). There was a statistically significant increase in LVEF from $29.6 \pm 9.1\%$ to $40.9 \pm 10.3\%$ (p < 0.001) after anterior SVR. The diastolic LVSI was increased from 0.41 ± 0.08 to 0.57 ± 0.16 (p < 0.001), due to substantial shortening of the LV long axis in relation to LV volume reduction (for full comparison of LV parameters see Table 3b and Fig. 5,6,7).

Table 3a.	Group 1:	LV Dim	ensions	measure	ed in CT	scans	before	and a	after \	ventricle	restora	tion in	24
cases.													

	Preoperative	Postoperative	P-value				
LVEDD (echo), % (mean ± SD)	57.5 ± 6.9	52.7 ± 6.7	0.028				
LVEF (echo), % (mean ± SD)	34.7 ± 10.2	40.4 ± 9.2	0.091				
LVEDVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	151.2 ± 84.1	85.7 ± 28.3	0.001				
LVESVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	110.6 ± 88.8	50.2 ± 22.9	0.001				
SVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	39.3 ± 12.2	35.2 ± 8.5	0.167				
LVEF, % (mean ± SD)	31.5 ± 15.1	43.4 ± 9.9	0.001				
LVSI diast. (mean ± SD)	0.60 ± 0.13	0.53 ± 0.07	0.007				
LVSI syst. (mean ± SD)	0.56 ± 0.16	0.47 ± 0.09	0.011				
LVEDVI. LVESVI = LV end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index: SVI = stroke volume							

index; LVEF = LV ejection fraction; LVSI = LV sphericity index, diastolic and systolic.

	Preoperative	Postoperative	P-value
LVEDD (echo), % (mean ± SD)	61.1 ± 8.6	58.6 ± 8.4	<0.001
LVEF (echo), % (mean ± SD)	29.2 ± 7.6	35.2 ± 7.7	<0.001
LVEDVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	164.4 ± 50.8	103.4 ± 34.5	<0.001
LVESVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	118.6 ± 49.2	63.6 ± 32.1	<0.001
SVI, ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	45.8 ± 11.4	39.8 ± 7.9	0.075
LVEF, % (mean ± SD)	29.6 ± 9.1	40.9 ± 10.3	<0.001
LVSI diast. (mean ± SD)	0.41 ± 0.08	0.57 ± 0.16	<0.001
LVSI syst. (mean ± SD)	0.33 ± 0.08	0.40 ± 0.16	<0.001
LAVI syst., ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	60.4 ± 19.6	52.2 ± 21.7	<0.001

Table 3b. Group 2: LV Dimensions measured in CT scans before and after ventricle restoration in 41 cases.

LVEDVI, LVESVI = LV end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; SVI = stroke volume index; LVEF = LV ejection fraction; LVSI = LV sphericity index, diastolic and systolic, LAVI = left atrial volume index, end-systolic.

Mean LV ESVI before and after ventricle restoration



Figure 5. Mean LVESVI before and after ventricle restoration.



LV EF before and after ventricle restoration

Figure 6. LVEF before and after ventricle restoration.



Mean LV Sphericity Index before and after ventricle restoration

Figure 7. Mean LV Sphericity Index before and after ventricle restoration.

3.4. LV aneurysm characteristics before ventricular restoration

3.4.1. Group 1

Aneurysms were localized in posterior myocardial segments in 9 patients, in posterior medial segments in 7 patients and in posterior lateral segments in 8. Aneurysm morphology was analyzed using such criteria as myocardial disruption, thrombotic apposition, pericardial adhesion and pericardial effusion, based on 4D reconstruction of MSCT data. LV pseudoaneurysm according to these criteria was suspected in 19 patients (79%) and verified intraoperatively in 17 patients (71%). ADA was smaller than 10 sqcm in 9 patients, 10 to 20 sqcm in 9 patients and larger than 20 sqcm in 6 patients (5 of these 6 patients needed MV surgery). The ADA was used to estimate the required patch size and as one of the criteria to select patients needing MV surgery.

Preoperative aneurysm end-diastolic volume index (AEDVI) showed a systolic increase of more than 10 ml/m² only in five patients with AEDVI higher than 42.9 ml/m², demonstrating volume shift during systole of potential adverse hemodynamic significance. LV aneurysm characteristics are summarized in Tables 4a and 4b.

Table 4a. Group	1: LV Aneurysm	characteristics	evaluated in CT	scans before	ventricle re	storation in 2	24
cases.							

	n	%
Localization: - Posterior - Posterior medial - Lateral	9 7 8	38 29 33
Suspected myocardial disruption	19	79
Verified myocardial disruption	17	71
Suspected true aneurysm	5	21
Verified true aneurysm	7	29
Aneurysm defect area diast., sqcm: < 10 10–20 > 20	9 9 6	38 38 25

Table 4b. Group 1: LV Aneurysm dimensions evaluated in CT scans before ventricle restoration in 24 cases (*one patient who had only wall necrosis with small perforation without aneurysm formation needed a patch repair).

	Median	(Range)		
ADA diast., sqcm	17.3	(0*–57)		
ADA syst., sqcm	16.0	(0*–75)		
AEDV, ml	55.0	(0*–507)		
AESV, ml	59.0	(0*–505)		
AEDVI, ml/sqm	32.4	(0*–260)		
AESVI, ml/sqm	30.1	(0*–259)		
ADA diast ADA syst = aneurysm defect area end-diastolic and end-systolic: AEDV AESV =				

ADA diast., ADA syst. = aneurysm defect area end-diastolic and end-systolic; AEDV, AESV = aneurysm end-diastolic and end-systolic volume; AEDVI, AESVI = aneurysm end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index.

3.4.2. Group 2

Aneurysms were localized in antero-apical myocardial segments in 16 patients (39%), in antero-apical segments with involvement of the basal septum in 8 patients (19.5%), in antero-apical segments combined with posterior scar in 11 patients (26.8%) and in antero-apical segments with involvement of both basal septum and posterior scar in 6 patients (14.6%). Aneurysm morphology was analyzed using such criteria as myocardial thinning, myocardial disruption, thrombotic apposition and wall calcification, based on 4D reconstruction of MSCT data. Thrombotic apposition was seen in 9 patients (22%), myocardial disruption in 3 patients (7.3%). LV aneurysm characteristics are summarized in Table 4c.

Table 4c. Group 2: LV Aneurysm characteristics evaluated in CT scans before ventricle restoration in 41 cases.

	n	%
Scar localization: - Antero-apical - Antero-apical + septal - Antero-apical + posterior - Antero-apical + septal + posterior	16 8 11 6	39 19.5 26.8 14.6
Thrombotic apposition	9	22
Myocardial disruption	3	7.3
Calcification	3	7.3

3.5. Mitral geometry and function

3.5.1. Group 1

In our series only six patients (20% of the whole population) needed concomitant MV surgery; all of them received a preoperative MSCT assessment.

Postoperative reduction of MR (from grade 0.84 ± 0.15 to 0.25 ± 0.09 , p = 0.003) in 18 patients from the MSCT analysis group (n = 24) without concomitant MV surgery corresponded with a significant improvement of MV geometry: a significant reduction in ICD, APD, MVAA and TA, shortening of leaflet CD and flattening of MVCA. Measurements of the submitral apparatus that characterize MV tethering showed significant changes in such parameters as IMD from 33.4 ± 6.3 to 28.9 ± 6.0 mm (p < 0.001) and in AnAPMD and AnPPMD (anterior and posterior papillary muscle tethering length) from 23.6 ± 4.1 to 21.8 ± 3.7 mm, p = 0.027) and from 27.1 ± 3.9 to 23.9 ± 6.8 mm, p = 0.033). The complete data are reported in Table 5a.

	Preoperative	Postoperative	P-value
MR, degree (mean ± SD)	0.84 ± 0.15	0.25 ± 0.09	0.003
ICD, mm (mean ± SD)	39.3 ± 6.0	35.3 ± 4.6	0.034
APD, mm (mean ± SD)	25.9 ± 4.8	23.3 ± 3.6	0.010
MVAA, sqcm (mean ± SD)	8.7 ± 1.5	8.1 ± 1.4	0.026
CD, mm (mean ± SD)	10.1 ± 2.0	8.6 ± 2.0	0.011
TA, sqcm (mean ± SD)	1.9 ± 0.5	1.6 ± 0.4	0.003
MVCA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	100.3 ± 14.4°	111.5 ± 10.2°	0.059
CSD, mm (mean ± SD)	32.6 ± 4.2	29.8 ± 5.2	<0.001
IMD, mm (mean ± SD)	33.4 ± 6.3	28.9 ± 6.0	< 0.001
AnAPMD, mm (mean ± SD)	23.6 ± 4.1	21.8 ± 3.7	0.027
AnPPMD, mm (mean ± SD)	27.1 ± 3.9	23.9 ± 6.8	0.033
AnAPMA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	83.4 ± 9.6°	84.2 ± 12.4°	0.765
AnPPMA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	84.7 ± 7.2°	80.7 ± 7.8°	0.086

Table 5a. Group 1: CT measurements of MV and submitral apparatus dimensions before and after LV restoration in 18 patients without mitral surgery.

MR = mitral regurgitation; ICD and APD = intercommissural and anteroposterior MV annulus diameter; MVAA = MV annulus area; CD = coaptation distance; TA = tenting area, MVCA = MV closure angle; CSD = coaptation-to-septum distance; IMD = interpapillary muscle distance, AnAPMD, AnPPMD = distance between MV annulus and anterior and posterior papillary muscle head (papillary muscle tethering length); AnAPMA, AnPPMA = angle between MV annulus and anterior and posterior papillary muscle head (papillary musc

The preoperatively measured MVAA, TA and CD were significantly higher in six patients who needed MV repair/replacement (MVAA 10.7 \pm 1.7 vs. 8.7 \pm 1.5 scsm, p = 0.013; TA 3.1 \pm 1.4 vs. 1.9 \pm 0.5 mm, p = 0.009; CD 12.7 \pm 2.6 vs. 10.1 \pm 2.0 mm, p = 0.020), representing parameters potentially predictive for the necessity of concomitant MV surgery. Volumetric parameters of the LV and aneurysm as well as aneurysm localization showed no significant differences between the SVR and SVR + MV repair/replacement groups, whereas ADA was markedly higher in the SVR + MV repair/replacement group. Patients who needed MV surgery showed also substantially higher prevalence of involvement of the posterior papillary muscle (83% vs.44%) and posterior load bearing wall (100% vs.72%) (Fig. 8). The comparison of clinical variables between these two groups shows higher prevalence of patients with severe MR, LVEF < 20%, NYHA IV symptoms and high hospital mortality in the SVR + MV repair/replacement group, however without statistical significance (Tables 6a-1, 6b-1, 6c-1).



Figure 8. Group 1: Motion abnormalities of papillary muscles and load bearing LV wall – SVR vs. SVR + MV repair/replacement.

Variable	SVR (n = 18)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)	P-value
Median age, years	64	61	0.586
Elective admission, n (%)	7 (36)	4 (67)	0.155
NYHA IV symptoms, n (%)	2 (12)	2 (33)	0.482
EF < 20%, n (%)	1 (6)	1 (17)	0.462
Mitral regurgitation > 2+, n (%)	1 (6)	6 (100)	<0.05
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)	2 (12)	0	1.0
Hospital mortality, n (%)	0 (0)	2 (33)	0.059

Table 6a-1. Group 1: Clinical variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement.

Table 6a-2. Group 2: Clinical variables among patients with SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement.

Variable	SVR (n = 35)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)	P-value
Median age, years	58.3	62.1	0.385
Elective admission, n (%)	35 (100)	6 (100)	n.s.
NYHA IV symptoms, n (%)	2 (5.7)	0 (0)	<0.05
EF < 20%, n (%)	4 (11.4)	2 (33.3)	<0.05
Mitral regurgitation \geq 2+, n (%)	0 (0)	6 (100)	<0.05
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)	2 (5.7)	0 (0)	0.548
Hospital mortality, n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	n.s.

Table 6b-1. Group 1: CT-morphological variables among patients with SVR and SVR + MV repair/replacement, (measurements given as mean ± SD).

	SVR (n = 18)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)	<i>P</i> -value
LVEDVI, ml/sqm	149.3 ± 89.5	156.3 ± 75.0	0.856
LVESVI, ml/sqm	110.8 ± 95.7	110.2 ± 75.4	0.988
AEDVI, ml/sqm	44.6 ± 66.8	67.0 ± 38.3	0.452
AESVI, ml/sqm	47.8 ± 68.9	71.5 ± 46.1	0.449
ADA D, sqsm	17.5 ± 14.8	25.4 ± 18.9	0.307
ADA S, sqcm	18.5 ± 18.4	23.6 ± 17.6	0.560
MVAA, sqcm	8.7 ± 1.5	10.7 ± 1.7	0.013
CD, mm	10.1 ± 2.0	12.7 ± 2.6	0.020
TA, sqcm	1.9 ± 0.5	3.1 ± 1.4	0.009
MVCA, angular degree	100.3 ± 14.4	104.0 ± 12.0	0.586
IMD, mm	33.4 ± 6.3	37.1 ± 9.6	0.287

LVEDVI, LVESVI = LV end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; LVEF = LV ejection fraction; AEDVI, AESVI = aneurysm end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; ADA D, ADA S = aneurysm defect area, end-diastolic and end-systolic; MVAA = MV annulus area; CD = coaptation distance; TA = tenting area, MVCA = MV closure angle; IMD = interpapillary muscle distance.

	SVR (n = 35)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)	P-value
LVEDVI, ml/sqm	163.5 ± 51.2	169.6 ± 52.4	0.787
LVESVI, ml/sqm	116.4 ± 49.3	131.1 ± 51.7	0.508
SI diast. (mean ± SD)	0.41 ± 0.08	0.44 ± 0.05	0.512
SI syst. (mean ± SD)	0.33 ± 0.08	0.37 ± 0.07	0.212
LAVI syst., ml/sqm (mean ± SD)	57.7 ± 15.8	76.1 ± 32.2	0.032
MVAA, sqcm	9.4 ± 1.9	12.9 ± 2.9	<0.001
CD, mm	8.5 ± 2.0	11.1 ± 3.3	0.013
TA, sqcm	1.6 ± 0.6	2.7 ± 1.2	0.001
MVCA, angular degree	111.4 ± 15.5	106.8 ± 9.7	0.488
IMD, mm	36.0 ± 5.3	39.5 ± 6.2	0.157
LVEDVI, LVESVI = LV end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; LVEF = LV ejection fraction; SI = sphericity index, diastolic and systolic; LAVI = left atrial volume index end-systolic; MVAA = MV annulus area; CD = coaptation distance; TA = tenting area, MVCA = MV closure angle; IMD =			

Table 6b-2. Group 2: CT-morphological variables among patients with SVR and SVR + MV repair/replacement, (measurements given as mean \pm SD).

interpapillary muscle distance.

Table 6c-1. Group 1: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm localization and submitral apparatus among patients with SVR and SVR + MV repair/replacement.

	SVR (n = 18)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)	
Chordae rupture, n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
APM dysfunction, n (%)	1 (6)	1 (17)	
PPM dysfunction, n (%)	8 (44)	5 (83)	
LVAW dysfunction, n (%)	3 (17)	0 (0)	
LVPW dysfunction, n (%)	13 (72)	6 (100)	
Aneurysm localization: 9 (50) 1 (17) posterior medial, n (%) 4 (22) 2 (33) lateral, n (%) 5 (28) 3 (50)			
APM, PPM = anterior and posterior papillary muscle; LVAW, LVPW = LV anterior and posterior load bearing wall.			

	SVR (n = 35)	SVR + MV repair/replacement (n = 6)		
Chordae rupture, n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)		
APM dysfunction, n (%)	4 (11.4)	2 (33.3)		
PPM dysfunction, n (%)	15 (42.9)	4 (66.6)		
LVAW dysfunction, n (%)	9 (25.7)	2 (33.3)		
LVPW dysfunction, n (%)	15 (42.9)	5 (83.3)		
Aneurysm (scar) localization, n (%): Antero-apical Antero-apical + septal Antero-apical + posterior Antero-apical + septal + posterior	15 (42.9) 7 (20.0) 7 (20.0) 6 (17.1)	1 (16.7) 1 (16.7) 4 (66.6) 0 (0.0)		
APM, PPM = anterior and posterior papillary muscle; LVAW, LVPW = LV anterior and posterior load bearing wall.				

Table 6c-2. Group 2: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm localization and submitral apparatus among patients with SVR and SVR + MV repair/replacement.

3.5.2. Group 2

Also in this series six of the patients (14.6%) needed concomitant MV surgery.

Postoperative reduction of MR (from grade 0.79 ± 0.39 to 0.37 ± 0.40 , p < 0.001) in 35 without concomitant MV surgery corresponded with improvement of MV geometry, whereby the changes in mitral annulus diameter (ICD, APD) were not significant and reduction of MV annulus area (MVAA) was only 6.7%, however with statistical significance (from 9.4 ± 1.9 to 8.8 ± 1.5 mm, p = 0.007). Significant improvement of MV geometry concerned much more the coaptation parameters of the mitral leaflets with significant reduction in TA (from 1.6 ± 0.6 to 1.2 ± 0.3 sqcm, p < 0.001), shortening of leaflet CD (from 8.5 ± 2.0 to 6.6 ± 1.4 mm, p < 0.001) and flattening of MVCA (from $111.4 \pm 15.5^{\circ}$ to $119.5 \pm 13.0^{\circ}$, p < 0.001). Measurements of the submitral apparatus that characterize MV tethering showed significant changes in such parameters as IMD from 36.0 ± 5.3 to 32.5 ± 4.5 mm, p < 0.001). There were no significant changes in anterior and posterior papillary muscle tethering length (AnAPMD from 24.3 ± 4.8 to 23.4 ± 3.8 mm, p = 0.21 and AnPPMD from 26.1 ± 3.9 to 25.7 ± 2.7mm, p = 0.33), but in anterior and posterior papillary muscle tethering angles (AnAPMA from 97.1 ± 10.3° to $90.8 \pm 10.0^{\circ}$, p = 0.001 and AnPPMA from $81.7 \pm 10.5^{\circ}$ to $79.5 \pm 8.5^{\circ}$, p = 0.040). The complete data are reported in Table 5b.

	Preoperative	Postoperative	P-value
MR, degree (mean ± SD)	0.79 ± 0.39	0.37 ± 0.4	< 0.001
ICD, mm (mean ± SD)	40.1 ± 3.5	39.0 ± 3.1	0.067
APD, mm (mean ± SD)	25.1 ± 4.0	24.0 ± 3.5	0.055
MVAA, sqcm (mean ± SD)	9.4 ± 1.9	8.8 ± 1.5	0.007
CD, mm (mean ± SD)	8.5 ± 2.0	6.6 ± 1.4	<0.001
TA, sqcm (mean ± SD)	1.6 ± 0.6	1.2 ± 0.3	<0.001
MVCA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	111.4 ± 15.5°	119.5 ± 13.0°	<0.001
CSD, mm (mean ± SD)	34.7 ± 5.7	33.4 ± 5.5	0.065
IMD, mm (mean ± SD)	36.0 ± 5.3	32.5 ± 4.5	<0.001
AnAPMD, mm (mean ± SD)	24.3 ± 4.8	23.4 ± 3.8	0.210
AnPPMD, mm (mean ± SD)	26.1 ± 3.9	25.7 ± 2.7	0.334
AnAPMA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	97.1 ± 10.3°	90.8 ± 10.0°	0.001
AnPPMA, angular degree (mean \pm SD)	81.7 ± 10.5°	79.4 ± 8.5°	0.040

Table 5b. Group 2: CT measurements of MV and submitral apparatus dimensions before and after LVrestoration in 35 patients without mitral surgery.

MR = mitral regurgitation; ICD and APD = intercommissural and anteroposterior MV annulus diameter; MVAA = MV annulus area; CD = coaptation distance; TA = tenting area, MVCA = MV closure angle; CSD = coaptation-to-septum distance; IMD = interpapillary muscle distance, AnAPMD, AnPPMD = distance between MV annulus and anterior and posterior papillary muscle head (papillary muscle tethering length); AnAPMA, AnPPMA = angle between MV annulus and anterior and posterior papillary muscle head (papillary muscle anterior and posterior angle).

The preoperatively measured MVAA, CD and TA were significantly higher in six patients who needed MV repair/replacement (MVAA 12.9 ± 2.9 vs. 9.4 ± 1.9, p < 0.001; TA 2.7 ± 1.2 vs. 1.6 ± 0.6, p = 0.001; CD 11.1 ± 3.3 vs. 8.5 ± 2.0, p = 0.013), representing parameters potentially predictive for the necessity of concomitant MV surgery. Volumetric parameters of the LV showed no significant differences between the SVR and SVR+MV repair/replacement groups, whereas LA-VI (left atrial volume index) was markedly higher in the SVR + MV repair/replacement group (LAVI 76.1 ± 32.2 vs. 57.7 ± 15.8, p = 0.032). Patients of group 2 who needed MV surgery showed substantially higher prevalence of additional scars of posterior localization (66.6% vs.20%) and involvement of the posterior papillary muscle (66.6% vs.42.9%) (Fig. 9). The comparison of clinical variables between these two groups shows higher prevalence of patients with severe MR and LVEF < 20% in the SVR + MV

repair/replacement group, however without statistical significance (Tables 6a-2, 6b-2, 6c-2).



Figure 9. Group 2: Motion abnormalities of papillary muscles and load bearing LV wall - SVR vs. SVR + MV repair/replacement.

3.6. Linear vs. patch repair

3.6.1. Group 1

Patch ventriculoplasty was performed in 11 (46%) and linear repair in 13 (54%) of 24 analyzed cases. The differences between these two groups in patient age (61 vs. 65 years, p = 0.22), presence of NYHA IV symptoms (27% vs. 8%, p = 0.51) or severe impairment of LV function (18% vs. 8%, p = 1.0) and hospital mortality (9% vs.8%, p = 1.0) were not statistically significant. The differences in CT morphological variables – LV and aneurysm volumes, aneurysm defect area and localization and geometrical parameters of the MV and submitral apparatus – did not reach statistical significance (Tables 7a-7c).

Table 7a. Group	1: Clinical	variables	among patients	with	linear	and patch	repair.
-----------------	-------------	-----------	----------------	------	--------	-----------	---------

	Linear repair (n = 13)	Patch repair (n = 11)	P-value
Median age (range), years	65	61	0.368
Elective admission, n (%)	7 (54%)	4 (36%)	0.106
NYHA IV symptoms, n (%)	1 (8%)	3 (27%)	0.510
LVEF < 20%, n (%)	1 (8%)	2 (18%)	1.0
Previous cardiac surgery, n (%)	1 (8%)	1 (9%)	1.0
Hospital mortality, n (%)	1 (8%)	1 (9%)	1.0

	Linear repair (n = 13)	Patch repair (n = 11)	P-value	
LVEDVI, ml/sqm	153.4 ± 96.8	148.5 ± 70.9	0.893	
LVESVI, ml/sqm	114.7 ± 103.4	105.6 ± 72.7	0.811	
LVEF, %	32.1 ± 13.5	30.6 ± 17.6	0.827	
AEDVI, ml/sqm	50.7 ± 71.8	50.7 ± 46.8	0.998	
AESVI, ml/sqm	53.3 ± 73.3	55.4 ± 53.1	0.938	
ADA D, sqsm	20.6 ± 16.6	18.3 ± 15.6	0.736	
ADA S, sqcm	22.0 ± 20.6	16.9 ± 14.4	0.490	
MVAA, sqcm	8.8 ± 1.8	9.3 ± 2.1	0.584	
CD, mm	10.1 ± 2.1	11.4 ± 2.6	0.207	
TA, sqcm	2.0 ± 0.6	2.3±1.3	0.465	
MVCA, angular degree	104.1 ± 13.8	98.0 ± 13.3	0.305	
IMD, mm	32.8 ± 5.8	36.4 ± 8.7	0.273	
I VEDVL I VESVL - I V end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index: I VEE - I V ejection fraction				

Table 7b. Group 1: Preoperative CT-morphological variables among patients with linear and patch repair.

LVEDVI, LVESVI = LV end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; LVEF = LV ejection fraction; AEDVI, AESVI = aneurysm end-diastolic and end-systolic volume index; ADA D, ADA S = aneurysm defect area, end-diastolic and end-systolic; MVAA = MV annulus area; CD = coaptation distance; TA = tenting area, MVCA = MV closure angle; IMD = interpapillary muscle distance.

Table 7c. Group 1: Preoperative qualitative CT-morphological characteristics of aneurysm and submitral apparatus in 24 patients with linear and patch repair.

	Linear repair (n = 13)	Patch repair (n = 11)	
Morphological characteristics:			
Chordae rupture , n (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
APM dysfunction , n (%)	0 (0)	2 (18)	
PPM dysfunction , n (%)	7 (54)	6 (55)	
LV AW dysfunction , n (%)	2 (15)	1 (9)	
LV PW dysfunction, n (%)	10 (77)	10 (91)	
Aneurysm localization:			
Posterior , n (%)	4 (1)	5 (46)	
Posterior medial, n (%)	6 (46)	1 (9)	
Lateral, n (%)	3 (23)	5 (46)	
APM, PPM = anterior and posterior papillary muscle; LV AW, LV PW = LV anterior and posterior load bearing wall.			

3.6.2. Group 2

Patch ventriculoplasty was performed in only one patient with anteroapical LV aneurysm, in whom the additional closure of a small ventricle septum defect after a huge anteroapical myocardial infarction was needed. In all other patients of group 2 the standard modified McCarthy procedure with several direct Fontan sutures along the aneurysm perimeter without patch application was performed.

4. DISCUSSION

SVR is currently considered an effective therapeutic strategy in the management of patients with ischemic heart failure.

Surgical procedures for the more common anteroapical LV aneurysms are well developed, studied and standardized (7, 16, 18). Posterior LV aneurysms are much more heterogeneous because of the variability of their localization, from posterior medial to posterior lateral, and of their morphological presentation, from acute wall necrosis with a very small defect to pseudoaneurysms with adherence to the pericardium, to true scar aneurysms. Our institutional results show that the majority in this mixed group are patients with pseudoaneurysms (71%), which require prompt surgical intervention because of potential danger of rupture or thrombotic complications (1). Restoration of LV shape and function and preservation of the mitral geometry need to be achieved in such an operation. This task requires quick and at the same time precise planning using all available diagnostic tools before surgery.

4.1. Diagnostic testing

Accurate assessment of the MV, LV and aneurysm morphology and their spatial relations is key for successful surgical ventricular restoration (18). The questions that should be answered with the available imaging modalities concern the localization and size of aneurysm, size of basic wall defect, spatial relationship to and potential involvement of the mitral apparatus, morphological features of the aneurysm in the proper sense of true or pseudoaneurysm, assessment of global LV function, MR and potential adverse hemodynamic effects of the aneurysm.

The most widely available imaging modality remains echocardiography, but its utility depends highly on the patient's anatomy and the operator's skill. CMR is now

considered the 'gold standard' technique for preoperative non-invasive diagnostic evaluation of ventricular aneurysms (18, 48). Localization, depth and extension of the myocardial scar, asynergic areas, ventricular wall disruption and thrombus formation can be excellently recognized by CMR. However, implanted pacemaker devices or acute cardiac decompensation with the need of full intensive care equipment restrict the feasibility of CMR.

MSCT without technical contraindications, with short examination time and the possibility of unrestricted reconstructions of primarily acquired three-dimensional data, has become increasingly used. Former studies (32, 35, 49) demonstrated that MSCT is a valuable tool to study LV and MV geometry and function. Delgado's group demonstrated very high suitability of MSCT for studying MV anatomy and provided a concept of geometric indices of clinical interest for the functional MV/LV complex (35). For our study we developed a combined measurement protocol comprising LV volumetric and functional parameters, geometric parameters of the mitral apparatus, scar localization, morphological characteristics and volumetric assessment of the aneurysm. Precise analysis of LV and MV dimensions and reliable distinction between true and pseudoaneurysm was possible, based on CT data. Complementary to MSCT we used echocardiography for the evaluation of myocardial viability and severity of MR

pre- and postoperatively.

4.2. Surgical approaches and results

As stated above, restoration of LV shape and function with preservation of the mitral geometry is the aim of surgical treatment in posterior LV aneurysms.

The parameters of aneurysm localization and morphology, size of the aneurysm neck (ADA) and extension of the perfused pseudoaneurysm allow precise planning of the operative steps. LV and aneurysm volumes, measured in MSCT, allow exact estimation of the required volume reduction of the LV, the possibility of linear repair, and precise sizing of the Dacron patch for patch repair.

Therapeutic aims in antero-apical LV aneurysms are to stop remodeling of the LV through the exclusion of scar areas, to reduce the volume and thus to reduce LV wall stress and restore elliptical LV geometry.

Efficient LV volume reduction toward a physiological range of LVESVI of < $60-70 \text{ ml/m}^2$ is essential to improve survival after surgical repair in both localizations.

Di Donato et al. (50) showed that postoperative LVESVI of $> 60 \text{ ml/m}^2$ is an independent predictor of mortality for both aneurysm localizations. The latest analysis of the STICH trial data (51) shows that a statistically significant reduction in mortality was achieved in those patients attaining an LVESVI of less than 70 ml/m² in antero-apical localization. In our study group 1 the LVESVI was markedly reduced from $110.6 \pm 88.8 \text{ ml/m}^2$ to $50.2 \pm 22.9 \text{ ml/m}^2$ (p = 0.001), accompanied by a statistically significant increase in LVEF from $31.5 \pm 15.1\%$ to $43.4 \pm 9.9\%$ (p = 0.001) and improvement of LV shape, with a significant decrease of diastolic LV sphericity index from 0.60 ± 0.13 to 0.53 ± 0.07 (p = 0.007), showing reverse remodeling of the LV toward more normal shape. In our study group 2 the LVESVI was also markedly reduced from 118.6 \pm 49.2 to 63.6 \pm 32.1 ml/m² (p < 0.001), also accompanied by a statistically significant increase in LVEF from 29.6 \pm 9.1% to 40.9 \pm 10.3% (p < 0.001). The postoperative increase in diastolic LV sphericity index from 0.41 ± 0.08 to 0.57 ± 0.16 (p < 0.001) in patients with antero-apical aneurysm localization can probably be explained by significant shortening of the LV long axis after aneurysm exclusion.

Concomitant correction of severe MR is an essential part of the surgical procedure in both aneurysm localizations for the following reasons: MR is highly relevant for hemodynamic stability immediately after surgery, for severity of postoperative heart failure and for clinical prognosis and survival (5, 52, 53). Severe MR was present in 7 patients of group 1 (23% of the whole population). Six of them (20%) needed concomitant mitral repair or replacement; this subgroup shows a markedly higher quota of NYHA IV symptoms (33%), LVEF < 20% (17%) and hospital mortality (33%). We identified CT morphological variables of potential predictive relevance for the necessity of concomitant mitral surgery in patients with posterior LV aneurysm – ADA, MVAA, CD and TA – which differ with statistical significance between patients who needed SVR alone and those who needed SVR with concomitant MV surgery in posterior aneurysm localization. Similar data were obtained for anterior aneurysm localization, showing the role of MV annulus remodeling and leaflet tethering in severe MR.

A remarkable result of data analysis for posterior as well as for anterior aneurysm localization is that SVR alone led to a reduction in mild MR (from grade 0.84 ± 0.15 to 0.25 ± 0.09 , p = 0.003 in group 1), with concomitant improvement in MV geometry as shown by the statistically significant reduction of mitral annulus diameters, mitral

annulus area and tenting area, shortening of coaptation distance, flattening of MV closure angle and reduction of interpapillary muscle distance (Table 5a). These changes reveal a geometric remodeling effect toward a more physiologic shape of the MV by SVR alone through improved LV geometry, realignment of papillary muscles and reduced wall tension.

We therefore propose an MSCT-based algorithm for structured planning of the surgical procedure in posterior LV aneurysms (Fig. 10) that allows not only identification of the mechanism of severe mitral regurgitation as related to LV distortion due to aneurysm but also performance of the LV repair applying an undersized patch and consequent approximation of papillary muscles with recovery of mitral function (Fig. 11).



Figure 10. Algorithm for MSCT-guided treatment of posterior submitral LV aneurysm. Left ventricular distortion: aneurysm defect area (ADA) > 20 sqcm; mitral valve tethering: annulus area > 10 sqcm, tenting area > 2.5 sqcm, coaptation distance > 11 mm, interpapillary distance > 35 mm.



Planning of a patch equivalent in size



Restoration of LV geometry





Figure 11. MSCT-guided surgical repair of submitral LV aneurysm according to the algorithm proposed.

(1A) MSCT reconstruction of a plane depicting aneurysm defect, estimation of defect area (ADA = 8.2 qcm) and planning of a patch equivalent in size to preserve the MV geometry, (1B) intraoperative view of the same defect with correlating dimensions. (2) MSCT reconstruction of short-axis view at the level of the papillary muscles: (2A) before surgery with demonstration of LV distortion and slight MV tethering due to aneurysm defect, (2B) after surgery with restoration of LV geometry. 3A and B and 4A and B show the corresponding reduction of the interpapillary muscle distance (IMD from 32 to 26 mm), tenting area (TA from 1.9 to 1.7 qcm) and coaptation distance (CD from 9.4 to 6.4 mm) of the MV with disappearance of moderate MR without additional mitral surgery. This case was reported previously (22) and demonstrates successful application of the MSCT-guided algorithm for the treatment of submitral LV aneurysm presented in this study.

Patients with anterior aneurysm localization (group 2) also showed a reduction in mild MR (from grade 0.79 ± 0.39 to 0.37 ± 0.4 , p < 0.001) with concomitant changes in MV geometry after SVR without concomitant mitral surgery – a slight reduction of MVAA and significant reduction of TA, CD and IMD (Table 5b). These changes demonstrate that exclusion of scar areas that are not closely related to the submitral apparatus also affects the MV geometry toward normalization solely through reduction of LV volumes and improvement of LV geometry.

4.3. Surgical outcome

In the first group three patients died in hospital, accounting exclusively for the overall 30-day mortality of 10%. All of them died due to septic shock or multiorgan failure and all of them had had combined surgery (1 = SVR + CABG, 2 = SVR + CABG + MV replacement). Thirty-day mortality in the second group was 0%. This difference in early mortality can be explained through the higher number of urgent operations in group 1. Jeganathan et al. (5) reported hospital mortality of 13.3% in patients who underwent combined SVR and MV surgery, 27% of whom had an aneurysm with posterior localization. His group identified NYHA class IV symptoms, preoperative atrial fibrillation, previous cardiac surgery and presence of ischemic MR as significant risk factors for increased operative mortality.

One- and 5-year actuarial survival rates in our study group 1 were 86.5% and 83.1% and one- and 5-year actuarial survival rates in the group 2 were 95.1% and 82.7%, respectively. Mickleborough et al. (7) reported 1-, 5- and 10-year actuarial survival of 92%, 82% and 62% in patients who underwent SVR for anterior and posterior LV aneurysms. Dor et al. (18) found hospital mortality rates of 8.1% and 4.8% and 5-year survival rates of 82% and 85% in early and late series of patients who underwent SVR for both localizations, partially combined with mitral surgery. Garatti et al. reported 30-day mortality of 8.3% in patients after SVR for anterior aneurysm and 5.4% after SVR for posterior aneurysm, with 5-year survival of 80% and 75% and 10-year survival of 60% and 58%, respectively (52). Our institutional hospital mortality and survival rates are absolutely comparable with those of other groups, although our patient collective presumably had substantially higher morbidity and despite the larger proportion of pseudoaneurysms in posterior localization.

4.4. Limitations

It is to be acknowledged that the current study has certain limitations. First, by its nature it is subject to the restrictions of a retrospective study of prospectively collected data sets. Second, the study cohorts are relatively small. However, to the best of our knowledge this study presents the second largest single center experience of posterior LV aneurysm repair and the largest analysing MSCT in such cases.

5. CONCLUSIONS

MSCT represents an efficient diagnostic tool for the assessment of the MV/LV complex. With valuable information about aneurysm localization, its extent and its effect on LV and MV geometry, obtained with MSCT, the reconstruction of LV aneurysms of both posterior and anterior localizations can be performed with good early and mid-term results due to adequate volume reduction and functional improvement, evaluated with MSCT.

The patients who need additional mitral surgery demonstrated advanced changes in MV geometry associated with lesions of the posterior LV wall and posterior papillary muscle in both groups. Postoperative reduction of moderate MR in patients of both groups without additional MV surgery corresponded with reverse remodeling effect on the MV apparatus with significant improvement of MV geometry. MSCT provides, therefore, predictive parameters for necessity of concomitant mitral surgery.

We propose an MSCT-based algorithm that allows identification of the mechanism of severe mitral regurgitation as related to LV distortion in posterior aneurysm localization and performance of the LV repair applying an undersized patch to improve the MV geometry.

Furthermore, this study reports one of the largest series of patients undergoing SVR for aneurysm of the posterior LV wall, in which a surgical procedure was accompanied with systematic analysis of morphological and functional data.

The MSCT imaging approach described here can be successfully used to design new strategies for the interventional and surgical treatment of LV and MV pathology.

6. References

- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Novikov A, Pasic M, Weng Y, Falk V, Knosalla C. Multislice computed tomography-guided surgical repair of acquired posterior left ventricular aneurysms: demonstration of mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodelling. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2016;23:383-90.
- Penkalla A, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Knosalla C. Giant true inferoposterior left ventricular aneurysm presenting with heart failure: insights from multimodality imaging. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;46:333.
- Saito T, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Giant pseudoaneurysm on left ventricular posterolateral wall with an orifice between papillary muscles. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2014;19:869-71.
- Pollak H, Nobis H, Mlczoch J. Frequency of left ventricular free wall rupture complicating acute myocardial infarction since the advent of thrombolysis. Am J Cardiol 1994;74:184-6.
- Jeganathan R, Maganti M, Badiwala MV, Rao V. Concomitant mitral valve surgery in patients undergoing surgical ventricular reconstruction for ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013;43:1000-5.
- Konstantinov I, Mickleborough LL, Graba J, Merchant N. Intraventricular mitral annuloplasty technique for use with repair of posterior left ventricular aneurysm. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2001;122:1244-7.
- 7. Mickleborough LL, Merchant N, Ivanov J, Rao V, Carson S. Left ventricular reconstruction: Early and late results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004;128:27-37.
- Atik FA, Navia JL, Vega PR, Gonzalez-Stawinski GV, Alster JM, Gillinov AM, Svensson LG, Pettersson BG, Lytle BW, Blackstone EH. Surgical treatment of postinfarction left ventricular pseudoaneurysm. Ann Thorac Surg 2007;83:526-31.

- 9. Brown SL, Gropler RJ, Harris KM. Distinguishing left ventricular aneurysm from pseudoaneurysm. A review of the literature. Chest 1997;111:1403-9.
- Demirozu ZT, Akay MH, Frazier OH. Left ventricular pseudoaneurysm arising between two papillary muscles: repair without mitral regurgitation. J Card Surg 2010;25:668-70.
- Yavuzgil O, Gurgun C, Apaydin A, Cinar CS, Yuksel A, Kultursay H. A giant inferoposterior true aneurysm of the left ventricle mimicking a pseudoaneurysm. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2006;22:205-12.
- 12. Savoye C, Equine O, Tricot O, Nugue O, Segrestin B, Sautiere K, Elkohen M, Pretorian EM, Taghipour K, Philias A, Aumegeat V, Decoulx E, Ennezat PV, Bauters C. Left ventricular remodeling after anterior wall acute myocardial infarction in modern clinical practice (from the REmodelage VEntriculaire [REVE] study group). Am J Cardiol 2006;98:1144-9.
- McKay RG, Pfeffer MA, Pasternak RC, Markis JE, Come PC, Nakao S, Alderman JD, Ferguson JJ, Safian RD, Grossman W. Left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction: a corollary to infarct expansion. Circulation 1986;74:693-702.
- Dor V, Civaia F, Alexandrescu C, Montiglio F. The post-myocardial infarction scarred ventricle and congestive heart failure: the preeminence of magnetic resonance imaging for preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative assessment. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008;136:1405-12.
- White HD, Norris RM, Brown MA, Brandt PW, Whitlock RM, Wild CJ. Left ventricular end-systolic volume as the major determinant of survival after recovery from myocardial infarction. Circulation 1987;76:44-51.
- Castelvecchio S, Menicanti L. Left ventricular reconstruction: update to left ventricular aneurysm/reshaping techniques. Multimed Man Cardiothorac Surg 2013;2013:mmt002. doi: 10.1093/mmcts/mmt002

- Mickleborough LL, Carson S, Ivanov J. Repair of dyskinetic or akinetic left ventricular aneurysm: results obtained with a modified linear closure. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2001;121:675-82.
- Dor V, Sabatier M, Montiglio F, Civaia F, DiDonato M. Endoventricular patch reconstruction of ischemic failing ventricle. a single center with 20 years experience. advantages of magnetic resonance imaging assessment. Heart Fail Rev 2004;9:269-86.
- 19. Shanmugam G, Ali IS. Surgical Ventricular Restoration: An Operation to Reverse Remodeling Clinical Application (Part II). Curr Cardiol Rev 2009;5:350-9.
- 20. Shanmugam G, Ali IS. Surgical ventricular restoration: an operation to reverse remodeling the basic science (part I). Curr Cardiol Rev 2009;5:343-9.
- Castelvecchio S, Parolari A, Garatti A, Gagliardotto P, Mossuto E, Canziani A, Menicanti L. Surgical ventricular restoration plus mitral valve repair in patients with ischaemic heart failure: risk factors for early and mid-term outcomesdagger. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2016;49:e72-8; discussion e8-9.
- 22. Barletta G, Toso A, Del Bene R, Di Donato M, Sabatier M, Dor V. Preoperative and late postoperative mitral regurgitation in ventricular reconstruction: role of local left ventricular deformation. Ann Thorac Surg 2006;82:2102-9.
- Chinitz JS, Chen D, Goyal P, Wilson S, Islam F, Nguyen T, Wang Y, Hurtado-Rua S, Simprini L, Cham M, Levine RA, Devereux RB, Weinsaft JW. Mitral apparatus assessment by delayed enhancement CMR: relative impact of infarct distribution on mitral regurgitation. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2013;6:220-34.
- Deja MA, Janusiewicz P, Gruszczynska K, Biernat J, Baron J, Malinowski M, Golba KS, Wos S. Mechanisms of functional mitral regurgitation in cardiomyopathy secondary to anterior infarction. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2014;45:1089-96.

- 25. Watanabe N, Ogasawara Y, Yamaura Y, Kawamoto T, Akasaka T, Yoshida K. Geometric deformity of the mitral annulus in patients with ischemic mitral regurgitation: a real-time three-dimensional echocardiographic study. J Heart Valve Dis 2005;14:447-52.
- Yosefy C, Beeri R, Guerrero JL, Vaturi M, Scherrer-Crosbie M, Handschumacher MD, Levine RA. Mitral regurgitation after anteroapical myocardial infarction: new mechanistic insights. Circulation 2011;123:1529-36.
- 27. Watanabe N, Ogasawara Y, Yamaura Y, Yamamoto K, Wada N, Kawamoto T, Toyota E, Akasaka T, Yoshida K. Geometric differences of the mitral valve tenting between anterior and inferior myocardial infarction with significant ischemic mitral regurgitation: quantitation by novel software system with transthoracic real-time three-dimensional echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2006;19:71-5.
- 28. Kron IL, Hung J, Overbey JR, Bouchard D, Gelijns AC, Moskowitz AJ, Voisine P, O'Gara PT, Argenziano M, Michler RE, Gillinov M, Puskas JD, Gammie JS, Mack MJ, Smith PK, Sai-Sudhakar C, Gardner TJ, Ailawadi G, Zeng X, O'Sullivan K, Parides MK, Swayze R, Thourani V, Rose EA, Perrault LP, Acker MA. Predicting recurrent mitral regurgitation after mitral valve repair for severe ischemic mitral regurgitation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015;149:752-61 e1.
- Magne J, Pibarot P, Dumesnil JG, Senechal M. Continued global left ventricular remodeling is not the sole mechanism responsible for the late recurrence of ischemic mitral regurgitation after restrictive annuloplasty. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2009;22:1256-64.
- 30. Magne J, Senechal M, Dumesnil JG, Pibarot P. Ischemic mitral regurgitation: a complex multifaceted disease. Cardiology 2009;112:244-59.

- 31. Acker MA, Parides MK, Perrault LP, Moskowitz AJ, Gelijns AC, Voisine P, Smith PK, Hung JW, Blackstone EH, Puskas JD, Argenziano M, Gammie JS, Mack M, Ascheim DD, Bagiella E, Moquete EG, Ferguson TB, Horvath KA, Geller NL, Miller MA, Woo YJ, D'Alessandro DA, Ailawadi G, Dagenais F, Gardner TJ, O'Gara PT, Michler RE, Kron IL. Mitral-valve repair versus replacement for severe ischemic mitral regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2014;370:23-32.
- 32. Asferg C, Usinger L, Kristensen TS, Abdulla J. Accuracy of multi-slice computed tomography for measurement of left ventricular ejection fraction compared with cardiac magnetic resonance imaging and two-dimensional transthoracic echocardiography: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Radiol 2012;81:e757-62.
- 33. Hendel RC, Patel MR, Kramer CM, Poon M, Carr JC, Gerstad NA, Gillam LD, Hodgson JM, Kim RJ, Lesser JR, Martin ET, Messer JV, Redberg RF, Rubin GD, Rumsfeld JS, Taylor AJ, Weigold WG, Woodard PK, Brindis RG, Douglas PS, Peterson ED, Wolk MJ, Allen JM. ACCF/ACR/SCCT/SCMR/ASNC/NASCI/SCAI/SIR 2006 appropriateness criteria for cardiac computed tomography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Quality Strategic Directions Committee Appropriateness Criteria Working Group, American College of Radiology, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology,

North American Society for Cardiac Imaging, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Interventional Radiology. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:1475-97.

- Mollet NR, Dymarkowski S, Volders W, Wathiong J, Herbots L, Rademakers FE, Bogaert J. Visualization of ventricular thrombi with contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in patients with ischemic heart disease. Circulation 2002;106:2873-6.
- 35. Debonnaire P, Palmen M, Marsan NA, Delgado V. Contemporary imaging of normal mitral valve anatomy and function. Curr Opin Cardiol 2012;27:455-64.

- Delgado V, Tops LF, Schuijf JD, de Roos A, Brugada J, Schalij MJ, Thomas JD, Bax JJ. Assessment of mitral valve anatomy and geometry with multislice computed tomography. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2009;2:556-65.
- 37. Hamilton-Craig CR, Friedman D, Achenbach S. Cardiac computed tomographyevidence, limitations and clinical application. Heart Lung Circ 2012;21:70-81.
- 38. Taylor AJ, Cerqueira M, Hodgson JM, Mark D, Min J, O'Gara P, Rubin GD. ACCF/SCCT/ACR/AHA/ASE/ASNC/NASCI/SCAI/SCMR 2010 Appropriate Use Criteria for Cardiac Computed Tomography. A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, the American College of Radiology, the American Heart Association, the American Society of Echocardiography, the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, the North American Society for Cardiovascular Imaging, the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr 2010;4:407 e1-33.
- Markham R, Murdoch D, Walters DL, Hamilton-Craig C. Coronary computed tomography angiography and its increasing application in day to day cardiology practice. Intern Med J 2016;46:29-34.
- 40. Yamamuro M, Tadamura E, Kubo S, Toyoda H, Nishina T, Ohba M, Hosokawa R, Kimura T, Tamaki N, Komeda M, Kita T, Konishi J. Cardiac functional analysis with multi-detector row CT and segmental reconstruction algorithm: comparison with echocardiography, SPECT, and MR imaging. Radiology 2005;234:381-90.
- Ghostine S, Caussin C, Habis M, Habib Y, Clement C, Sigal-Cinqualbre A, Angel CY, Lancelin B, Capderou A, Paul JF. Non-invasive diagnosis of ischaemic heart failure using 64-slice computed tomography. Eur Heart J 2008;29:2133-40.
- 42. Winer-Muram HT, Tann M, Aisen AM, Ford L, Jennings SG, Bretz R. Computed tomography demonstration of lipomatous metaplasia of the left ventricle following myocardial infarction. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2004;28:455-8.

- 43. Witkowski TG, Thomas JD, Delgado V, van Rijnsoever E, Ng AC, Hoke U, Ewe SH, Auger D, Yiu KH, Holman ER, Klautz RJ, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ, Marsan NA. Changes in left ventricular function after mitral valve repair for severe organic mitral regurgitation. Ann Thorac Surg 2012;93:754-60.
- Ko SM, Song MG, Hwang HK. Evaluation of the aortic and mitral valves with cardiac computed tomography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2012;28 Suppl 2:109-27.
- Dor V, Civaia F, Alexandrescu C, Sabatier M, Montiglio F. Favorable effects of left ventricular reconstruction in patients excluded from the Surgical Treatments for Ischemic Heart Failure (STICH) trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011;141:905-16, 16 e1-4.
- 46. Lester SJ, Ryan EW, Schiller NB, Foster E. Best method in clinical practice and in research studies to determine left atrial size. Am J Cardiol 1999;84:829-32.
- 47. Di Donato M, Dabic P, Castelvecchio S, Santambrogio C, Brankovic J, Collarini L, Joussef T, Frigiola A, Buckberg G, Menicanti L. Left ventricular geometry in normal and post-anterior myocardial infarction patients: sphericity index and 'new' conicity index comparisons. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2006;29 Suppl 1:S225-30.
- Schuster A, Morton G, Chiribiri A, Perera D, Vanoverschelde JL, Nagel E. Imaging in the management of ischemic cardiomyopathy: special focus on magnetic resonance. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012;59:359-70.
- Willmann JK, Kobza R, Roos JE, Lachat M, Jenni R, Hilfiker PR, Luscher TF, Marincek B, Weishaupt D. ECG-gated multi-detector row CT for assessment of mitral valve disease: initial experience. Eur Radiol 2002;12:2662-9.
- 50. Di Donato M, Castelvecchio S, Menicanti L. End-systolic volume following surgical ventricular reconstruction impacts survival in patients with ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur J Heart Fail 2010;12:375-81.

- 51. Michler RE, Rouleau JL, Al-Khalidi HR, Bonow RO, Pellikka PA, Pohost GM, Holly TA, Oh JK, Dagenais F, Milano C, Wrobel K, Pirk J, Ali IS, Jones RH, Velazquez EJ, Lee KL, Di Donato M. Insights from the STICH trial: change in left ventricular size after coronary artery bypass grafting with and without surgical ventricular reconstruction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013;146:1139-45 e6.
- 52. Garatti A, Castelvecchio S, Bandera F, Guazzi M, Menicanti L. Surgical ventricular restoration: is there any difference in outcome between anterior and posterior remodeling? Ann Thorac Surg 2015;99:552-9.
- Lamas GA, Mitchell GF, Flaker GC, Smith SC, Jr., Gersh BJ, Basta L, Moye L, Braunwald E, Pfeffer MA. Clinical significance of mitral regurgitation after acute myocardial infarction. Survival and Ventricular Enlargement Investigators. Circulation 1997;96:827-33.

7. Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

7. Mein Lebenslauf wird aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen in der elektronischen Version meiner Arbeit nicht veröffentlicht.

8. List of Publications

Book Chapters

- Hetzer R, Solowjowa N, Kukucka M, Knosalla C, Röttgen R. Correction of aortic valve incompetence combined with ascending aortic aneurysm by relocation of the aortic valve plane through a short-length aortic graft replacement. In: Yankah CA, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Eds. Aortic root surgery: The biological solution. Berlin; Heidelberg; New York: Springer, 2010:178-84.
- Yankah CA, Pasic M, Siniawski H, Stein J, Detschades C, Unbehaun A, Solowjowa N, Buz S, Weng Y, Hetzer R. Replacement of bioprostheses after structural valve deterioration. In: Yankah CA, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Eds. Aortic root surgery: The biological solution. Berlin; Heidelberg; New York: Springer, 2010:503-19.

Articles

- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Novikov A, Pasic M, Weng Y, Falk V, Knosalla C. Multislice computed tomography-guided surgical repair of acquired posterior left ventricular aneurysms: demonstration of mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodelling. Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery 2016;23(3):383-90.
- Hetzer R, Solowjowa N, Siniawski H, Delmo Walter EM. Posterior annulus shortening increases leaflet coaptation in ischemic mitral incompetence: a new and valid technique. Annals of Cardiothoracic Surgery 2015;4(3):238-48.
- Ma C, Tutkun B, Laube H, Wassilew K, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R. Acute leriche syndrome due to sarcoma of left atrium. Journal of Cardiac Surgery 2015;30(6):513-4.
- Penkalla A, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Knosalla C. Giant true inferoposterior left ventricular aneurysm presenting with heart failure: insights from multimodality imaging. European Journal of Cardio-thoracic Surgery 2014;46(2):333.
- Saito T, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Giant pseudoaneurysm on left ventricular posterolateral wall with an orifice between papillary muscles. Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery 2014;19(5):869-71.
- Unbehaun A, Pasic M, Kukucka M, Mladenow A, Solowjowa N, Dreysse S, Drews T, Penkalla A, Hetzer R, Buz S. Transapical aortic valve implantation: predictors of leakage and impact on survival: an update. Annals of Thoracic Surgery 2014;98(4):1308-15.

59

- 7. Hetzer R, Absi D, Miera O, Solowjowa N, Schulz A, Del Maria Javier MF, Delmo Walter EM. Extraanatomic Bypass Technique for the Treatment of Midaortic Syndrome in Children. Annals of Thoracic Surgery 2013;96(1):183-9. Komoda T, Solowjowa N, Hammerschmidt R, Hetzer R. Giant aneurysm of the proximal left subclavian artery. European Journal of Cardio-thoracic Surgery 2013;43(2):445.
- 8. Solowjowa N. Lebensgefährliche Atemwegseinschnürung bei Neugeborenem erfolgreich beseitigt. Cardio News 2013:13-15.
- 9. Hetzer R, Solowjowa N, Knosalla C, Kuckuka M, Delmo Walter EM. Surgical correction of ascending aortic aneurysm and aortic valve incompetence by relocation of the aortic valve plane using a short aortic replacement graft. Annals of Thoracic Surgery 2012;94(6):1983-1989.
- 10. Nedios S, Tang M, Roser M, Solowjowa N, Gerds-Li JH, Fleck E, Kriatselis C. Characteristic changes of volume and three-dimensional structure of the left atrium in different forms of atrial fibrillation: Predictive value after ablative treatment. Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrophysiology 2011;32(2):87-94.
- 11. Grauhan O, Solowjowa N, Meyer R, Hetzer R. Postoperative exostosis of the xiphoid process: a contraindication for precordial thump. European Journal of Cardio-thoracic Surgery 2009;36(3):588.
- Tang M, Kriatselis C, Ye G, Nedios S, Roser M, Solowjowa N, Fleck E, Gerds-Li JH. 12. Reconstructing and registering three-dimensional rotational angiogram of left atrium during ablation of atrial fibrillation. Pacing and Clinical Electrophysiology 2009;32(11):1407-16.
- 13. Dandel M, Hummel M, Wellnhofer E, Meyer R, Müller J, Solowjowa N, Lehmkuhl H, Hetzer R. Zuverlässigkeit der linksventrikulären Wandbewegungsanalyse mit dem gepulsten Gewebedopplerverfahren für das Timing von Myokardbiopsien und Koronarangiographien nach Herztransplantation. Zeitschrift für Herz-, Thorax- und Gefäßchirurgie 2004;18(4):179-193.
- Dandel M, Hummel M, Müller J, Wellnhofer E, Meyer R, Solowjowa N, Ewert R, Hetzer R. 14. Reliability of tissue Doppler wall motion monitoring after heart transplantation for replacement of invasive routine screenings by optimally timed cardiac biopsies and catheterization. Circulation 2001;104(12 Suppl 1):I-184-I-191.
- 15. Gulielmos V, Wagner FM, Waetzig B, Solowjowa N, Tugtekin SM, Schroeder C, Schueler S. Clinical experience with minimally invasive coronary artery and mitral valve surgery with the advantage of cardiopulmonary bypass and cardioplegic arrest using the Port Access technique. World Journal of Surgery 1999;23(5):480-5.
- Gulielmos V, Dangel M, Solowjowa N, Wagner FM, Karbalai P, Schmidt V, Schueler S. 16. Clinical experiences with minimally invasive mitral valve surgery using a simplified Port Access technique.

- Solovyova NV, Matlashov AN, Zhuravlyov YE, Lipovich AY, Sedov AN. [A first experience of application of a USSR-produced apparatus for late ventricular potentials registration]. Russian. Biulleten' Vsesoiuznogo kardiologicheskogo nauchnogo tsentra AMN SSSR 1989;1: 82-87.
- Solovyova NV.
 ["Signal averaging" and "high resolution ECG" methods of noninvasive registration of late ventricular potentials]. Russian.
 Kardiologia 1988;28(4): 115-117.
- Gratsiansky NA, Logutov YA, Karpov YA, Maevskaya EG, Solovyova NV. [Prostaglandin E1 infusion in refractory angina]. Russian. Kardiologia 1985;25(9):91-94.

Abstracts

 Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Hrytsyna Y, Pasic M, Falk V, Knosalla C. Reverse remodeling of mitral valve apparatus after surgical repair of acquired left ventricular aneurysms of posterior versus anterior localization assessed with multislice computed tomography. 46th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery (DGTHG), Leipzig, 11.-14.02.2017. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2017;65(Suppl 1):S63.

- Solowjowa N, Hrytsyna Y, Dandel M, Pasic M, Falk V, Knosalla C. Repair of anteroapical left ventricular aneurysms guided with multislice computed tomography: update of single center experience.
 Bahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 30.03.-02.04.2016. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2016;105(Suppl 1):P1830.
- Solowjowa N, Musayeva L, Hrytsyna Y, Knosalla C, Falk V. Functional anatomy of the mitral valve and left ventricle in ischemic mitral regurgitation assessed with multislice computed tomography. 45th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Leipzig, Germany, 13.-16.02.2016. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2016;64(Suppl 1):S65.
- Solowjowa N, Musayeva L, Hrytsyna Y, Knosalla C, Falk V. Functional anatomy of the mitral valve-left ventricle complex in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy as assessed with multislice computed tomography: characteristics associated with mitral regurgitation. Annual Scientific Meeting of the International Society for Minimally Invasive Cardiothoracic Surgery (ISMICS), Berlin, Germany, 03.-06.06.2015. Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery 2015;10(2S):S21-22.

- Solowjowa N, Musayeva L, Hrytsyna Y, Knosalla C, Falk V. Potential of multislice computed tomography in assessment of functional anatomy of the mitral valve and left ventricle in ischemic mitral regurgitation. 19th Annual Meeting of the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (EACVI), Seville, Spain, 02.-05.12.2015. European Heart Journal Cardiovascular Imaging 2015;16(Suppl 2):ii166.
- Solowjowa N, Novikov A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Surgical repair of anteroapical left ventricular aneurysms supported with multislice computed tomography: update of single center experience.
 81. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 08.-11.04.2015. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2015;104(Suppl 1):V1246.
- Delmo Walter EM, Amiri A, Solowjowa N, Siniawski H, Hetzer R. Posterior annulus shortening increases leaflet coaptation in ischemic mitral incompetence: A new and valid technique. 43rd Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Freiburg, Germany, 09.-12.02.2014. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2014;62(Suppl 1):S118-9.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodeling after surgical repair of submitral left ventricular aneurysms assessed with multi-slice computed tomography. Annual Scientific Meeting of the International Society for Minimally Invasive Cardiothoracic Surgery (ISMICS), Boston, Mass., USA, 28.–31.05.2014. Innovations: Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery 2014;9(3):197.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodeling after surgical repair of submitral left ventricular aneurysms assessed with multi-slice computed tomography. ESC Congress 2014 – Annual Congress of the European Society of Cardiology, Barcelona, Spain, 30.08.–03.09.2014. European Heart Journal 2014;35(Suppl 1):963-64.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodeling after surgical repair of submitral left ventricular aneurysms assessed with multi-slice computed tomography.
 43rd Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Freiburg, Germany, 09.-12.02.2014. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2014;62(Suppl 1):S119.
- Delmo Walter E, Miera O, Solowjowa N, Berger F, Hetzer R. Extra-anatomic bypass for the treatment of midaortic syndrome in children. 45. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Pädiatrische Kardiologie (DGPK), Weimar, 02.-05.11.2013. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2013;61(Suppl 2):S183.

- Delmo Walter E, Solowjowa N, Siniawski H, Hetzer R. Posterior leaflet augmentation technique for repair of ischemic mitral incompetence: a new strategy and concept.
 42nd Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. In Kooperation mit der Österreichischen Gesellschaft für Thorax- und Herzchirurgie, Freiburg, 17.-20.02.2013. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2013;61(Suppl 1):S132.
- Hetzer R, Amiri A, Solowjowa N, Siniawski H, Delmo Walter E. Posterior annulus shortening increases leaflet coaptation in ischemic mitral incompetence: A new and valid technique. 23rd World Congress of the World Society of Cardio-Thoracic Surgeons, Split, Croatia, 12.-15.09.2013. Journal of Cardiothoracic Surgery 2013;8(Suppl 1):61.
- Penkalla AJ, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Assessment of left ventricular and mitral valve geometry and function after surgical repair of submitral left ventricular aneurysms with multi-slice computed tomography. 42nd Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. In Kooperation mit der Österreichischen Gesellschaft für Thorax- und Herzchirurgie, Freiburg, 17.-20.02.2013. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2013;61(Suppl 1):S156-7.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Surgical restoration of dyskinetic anteroapical left ventricular aneurysm supported with multi-slice computed tomography: Update of single center experience.
 Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 03.-06.04.2013. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2013;102(Suppl 1):P382.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Pasic M, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Surgical restoration of dyskinetic anteroapical left ventricular aneurysm supported with multi-slice computed tomography: update of single center experience. Heart Failure 2013. Annual Meeting of the Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), Lisbon, Portugal, 25.-28.05.2013. European Journal of Heart Failure 2013;12(Suppl 1):S293-294.
- Stadie JS, Pasic M, Drews T, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R, Wassilew K. Late recurrence of a type AB thymoma after primary resection.
 25th European Congress of Pathology, Lisbon, Portugal, 31.08.-04.09.2013.
 Virchows Archiv 2013;463(2):193.
- Delmo Walter EM, Solowjowa N, Siniawski H, Hetzer R. Posterior leaflet augmentation technique for repair of ischemic mitral incompetence: a new strategy and concept.
 78. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 11.-14.04.2012. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2012;101(Suppl 1):V539.

- Penkalla AJ, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Geometry and function of left ventricle and mitral valve after surgical repair of submitral left ventricular aneurysms assessed with multi-slice computed tomography. Scientific Sessions of the American Heart Association 2012, Los Angeles, CA, USA, 03.-07.11.2012. Circulation 2012;126(21 Suppl):A18544.
- Penkalla AJ, Weng YG, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Repair of a giant true postinferior left ventricular aneurysm.
 41st Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Freiburg, 12.-15.02.2012. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2012;60(Suppl 1):S165.
- Sidjuk VA, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Röttgen R, Pasic M, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Left ventricular volume, shape and function after surgical restoration of dyskinetic anteroapical left ventricular aneurysm assessed with multi-slice computed tomography. 78. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 11.-14.04.2012. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2012;101(Suppl 1):P431.
- Solowjowa N, Penkalla AJ, Dandel M, Pasic M, Weng Y, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Assessment of left ventricular volume, shape and function after surgical repair of inferoposterior left ventricular aneurysms with multi-slice computed tomography. 78. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung e.V., Mannheim, 11.-14.04.2012. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2012;101(Suppl 1):P1597.
- Solowjowa N, Sidjuk V, Dandel M, Pasic M, Hetzer R, Knosalla C. Assessment of left ventricular volume, shape and function after surgical restoration of dyskinetic anteroapical left ventricular aneurysm with multi-slice computed tomography. ESC Congress 2012. Annual Conference of the European Society of Cardiology, Munich, Germany, 25.-29.08.2012. European Heart Journal 2012;33(Abstract-Suppl):1098.
- Solowjowa N, Knosalla C, Kukucka M, Röttgen R, Hetzer R. Relocation technique for a dislocated aortic root in ascending aortic aneurysm with aortic valve incompetence.
 21st World Congress of the World Society of Cardio-Thoracic Surgeons, Berlin, 12.-15.6.2011. Heart Surgery Forum 2011;14(Suppl 2):S27-8.
- Drews T, Pasic M, Buz S, Unbehaun A, Dreysse S, Kukucka M, Mladenow A, Ivanitskaia-Kühn E, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R. Transapical aortic valve implantation: postoperative stroke is rare, but CT findings are frequent.
 39th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Stuttgart, 14.-17.2.2010. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2010;58(Suppl 1):S118.

- Drews T, Pasic M, Buz S, Unbehaun A, Dreysse S, Kukucka M, Mladenow A, Ivanitskaia-Kühn E, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R. Transapical aortic valve implantation: Stroke is rare, CT findings are frequent. Annual Scientific Meeting of the International Society for Minimally Invasive Cardiothoracic Surgery, Berlin, 16.-19.6.2010. Innovations Technology and Techniques in Cardiothoracic and Vascular Surgery 2010;5(3):225-6.
- Knosalla C, Solowjowa N, Kukucka M, Röttgen R, Hetzer R. Correction of aortic valve incompetence combined with ascending aortic aneurysm by relocation of the aortic valve plane through a short-length aortic graft replacement.
 39th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Stuttgart, 14.-17.2.2010. Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgeon 2010;58(Suppl 1):S121.
- Knosalla C, Solowjowa N, Kukucka M, Röttgen R, Hetzer R. Relocation of the aortic valve plane through a short-length aortic graft replacement for correction of aortic valve incompetence combined with ascending aortic aneurysm. 76. Jahrestagung der Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kardiologie – Herz- und Kreislaufforschung, Mannheim, 8.-10.4.2010. Clinical Research in Cardiology 2010;99(Suppl 1):P138.
- Dandel M, Hummel M, Solowjowa N, Müller J, Ewert R, Hetzer R. Radial and longitudinal wall motion assessment by pulsed-wave tissue Doppler in transplanted hearts: Readibility of recordings and reproducibility of measurements. 12th Annual Scientific Sessions of the American Society of Echocardiography, Seattle, 28.-30.6.2001. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography 2001;14(5):490.
- Dandel M, Hummel M, Solowjowa N, Stein J, Müller J, Hetzer R. Readability and reproducibility of pulsed-wave tissue Doppler images in transplanted hearts.
 4th Annual and Plenary Meeting of the Working Group on Echocardiography of the European Society of Cardiology (EUROECHO 4), Lissabon, 6.-9.12.2000. European Journal of Echocardiography 2000;1(Suppl 2):S53.

<u>Awards</u>

"Poster Award Silver" for the Poster Presentation:

Solowjowa N. Potential of multi-slice computed tomography in assessment of mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodeling after surgical repair. Cardiac MRI & CT Clinical Update 2013, Cannes, France, 19.-21.04.2013.

"Poster Award Bronze" for the Poster Presentation:

Solowjowa N. MSCT-guided Planning and Implementation of a Surgical Procedure in Submitral Left Ventricular Aneurysms with Demonstration of Mitral Valve and Left Ventricular Reshaping. Cardiac MRI&CT Clinical Update 2015, Cannes, France, 16.-18.04.2015.

9. Affidavit

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

"Ich, Natalia Solowjowa, versichere an Eides statt durch meine eigenhändige Unterschrift, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation mit dem Thema:

Multislice Computed Tomography for Assessment of Reverse Remodeling of Mitral Valve and Left Ventricle after Surgical Repair of Acquired Posterior Left Ventricular Aneurysms Compared to Anterior Localization

selbstständig und ohne nicht offengelegte Hilfe Dritter verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel genutzt habe.

Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder dem Sinne nach auf Publikationen oder Vorträgen anderer Autoren beruhen, sind als solche in korrekter Zitierung (siehe "Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts (URM)" des ICMJE -*www.icmje.org*) kenntlich gemacht. Die Abschnitte zu Methodik (insbesondere praktische Arbeiten, Laborbestimmungen, statistische Aufarbeitung) und Resultaten (insbesondere Abbildungen, Graphiken und Tabellen) entsprechen den URM (s.o) und werden von mir verantwortet.

Meine Anteile an etwaigen Publikationen zu dieser Dissertation entsprechen denen, die in der untenstehenden gemeinsamen Erklärung mit dem Betreuer, angegeben sind. Sämtliche Publikationen, die aus dieser Dissertation hervorgegangen sind und bei denen ich Autor bin, entsprechen den URM (s.o) und werden von mir verantwortet.

Die Bedeutung dieser eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unwahren eidesstattlichen Versicherung (§156,161 des Strafgesetzbuches) sind mir bekannt und bewusst."

Datum

Unterschrift

Anteilserklärung an etwaigen erfolgten Publikationen

Natalia Solowjowa hatte folgenden Anteil an den folgenden Publikationen:

Publikation 1:

Solowjowa N, Penkalla A, Dandel M, Novikov A, Pasic M, Weng Y, Falk V, Knosalla C. Multislice computed tomography-guided surgical repair of acquired posterior left Ventricular aneurysms: demonstration of mitral valve and left ventricular reverse remodeling.

Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery 2016;23(3):383-90

Beitrag im Einzelnen:

- Ausarbeitung der Methodik
- Erfassung von Daten
- Analyse und Interpretation der Daten
- Anfertigung von Bildmaterial
- Verfassen des Manuskripts

Publikation 2:

Penkalla A, Solowjowa N, Dandel M, Knosalla C.

Giant true inferoposterior left ventricular aneurysm presenting with heart failure: insights from multimodality imaging.

European Journal of Cardio-thoracic Surgery 2014;46(2):333.

Beitrag im Einzelnen:

- Ausarbeitung der Methodik
- Analyse und Interpretation der Daten
- Anfertigung von Bildmaterial

Publikation 3:

Saito T, Solowjowa N, Hetzer R, Knosalla C.

Giant pseudoaneurysm on left ventricular posterolateral wall with an orifice between papillary muscles.

Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery 2014;19(5):869-71.

Beitrag im Einzelnen:

- Ausarbeitung der Methodik
- Analyse und Interpretation der Daten
- Anfertigung von Bildmaterial

Unterschrift des Doktoranden/der Doktorandin

10. Acknowledgements

Herzlich bedanken möchte ich mich bei Herrn Professor Dr. Christoph Knosalla für seine fundierte, konsequente und zielorientierte Betreuung und für das wissenschaftliche Wissen und Können, das er in diese Arbeit investiert und mit mir geteilt hat.

Ebenfalls bedanke ich mich bei Herrn Professor Dr. Miralem Pasic, der mir in schwierigen Fragen immer beratend und unterstützend zur Seite stand.

Für eine große und immer zuverlässige Hilfe in der Akquisition und Systematisierung von Patientendaten bedanke ich mich bei meinen jungen Kollegen Herrn Dr.med. Alexej Novikov und Herrn Yuriy Hrytzyna und wünsche ihnen viel Erfolg auf ihren Wegen.

Ein großer Dank gilt Frau Anne Gale für das sorgfältige und fundierte Lektorat in englischer Sprache, Frau Astrid Benhennour für unschätzbare Hilfe und Anleitung bei der Erstellung des Literaturverzeichnisses und bei der redaktionellen Vorbereitung des Manuskripts, Frau Julia Stein für die statistische Datenanalyse und Herrn Helge Haselbach für die Gestaltung von Bildern und Grafiken.